
i 

 

 
 

 

 

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
 

Agenda 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

This meeting will be held in person at the Supper Room, Waihinga Centre, Texas Street, 
Martinborough and via video conference on the 22 June 2022 and will commence at 
10:00am.  All members participating via video conference will count for the purpose of the 
meeting quorum in accordance with clause 25B of Schedule 7 to the Local Government Act 2002. 
This meeting will be live-streamed and will be available to view on our YouTube channel. 

The meeting will be held in public (except for any items specifically noted in the agenda as being 
for public exclusion).   

 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE COMMITTEE 

Councillors Leigh Hay (Chair), Pam Colenso, Garrick Emms, Brian Jephson, Colin Olds, Brenda 
West, and Mayor Alex Beijen. Independent member: Kit Nixon 

 
 

Open Section 

Health and Safety Procedures  

A1. Apologies   

A2. Conflicts of interest  

A3. Public participation 

As per standing order 14.17 no debate or decisions will be made 
at the meeting on issues raised during the forum unless related 
to items already on the agenda. 

Please note: Electioneering is not permitted in council meetings 
or on council premises – your cooperation is appreciated.  

If electioneering is deemed to be taking place, the Chair of the 
meeting or council officers will bring your session to a close. 

 

A4. Actions from public participation  

A5. Extraordinary business 

 

 

 

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCMfhxnFK-riv9KItgv2BwYg/videos


ii 

A6. Minutes for Confirmation:   

Proposed Resolution:  That the minutes of the Finance, Audit 
and Risk Committee meeting held on 11 May 2022 are 
confirmed as a true and correct record. 

Pages 1-4 

 

 

 

 

B. Decision Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 

B1. Setting Fees and Charges for Official Information Requests Report 
Amanda Bradley, General Manager Policy & Governance will be speaking to 
this report 

Pages 5-61 

 

 

C. Information and Verbal Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 

C1. Finance Report 

Karon Ashforth, General Manager Finance will be speaking to this report 

Pages 62-74 

C2. Policy and Governance Report 
Amanda Bradley, General Manager Policy & Governance will be speaking to this 
report 

Pages 75-77 

C3. Action Items Report Pages 78-81 

C4. Official Information Request Topic Trends Report 
Amanda Bradley, General Manager Policy & Governance will be speaking to this 
report 

 

Pages 81-85 

D. Public Excluded Business 

D1. 

 

Mid-Year Pulse Survey on Staff Engagement Report 
Paul Gardner, General Manager, HR & Corporate Services will be speaking 
to this report 

distributed separately 

 

Report/General Subject Matter Reason for passing this 
resolution in relation to the 
matter 

Ground(s) under Section 
48(1) for the passing of this 
Resolution 

Mid-Year Pulse Survey on Staff Engagement 
Report 

Good reason to withhold 
exists under section 7(2)(a) 
and 7(2)(f)(ii) 

Section 48(1)(a) 

 

This resolution is made in reliance on Section 48(1) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings 
Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by section 6 or section 7 of that Act which would be 
prejudiced by the holding of the whole or relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are as follows: 

 

Reason for passing this resolution in relation to the matter Ground(s) under Section 48(1) for 
the passing of this Resolution 

The withholding of the information is necessary to protect the 
privacy of natural persons, including that of deceased natural 
persons. 
 
The withholding of the information is necessary to maintain the 
effective conduct of public affairs through the protection of  
such members, officers, employees, and persons from improper 
pressure or harassment.  

Section 7(2)(a) 
 
 
 
Section 7(2)(f)(i) 
 

 



 

  
 

 
 

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
Minutes from 11 May 2022 

 

 
 

Present: Councillors Leigh Hay (Chair), Pam Colenso, Garrick Emms, Brenda West and 
Mayor Alex Beijen. 
 

In Attendance:  Councillor Pip Maynard 
 
Harry Wilson (Chief Executive), Amanda Bradley (General Manager Policy and 
Governance), Charly Clarke (Finance Manager), and Amy Andersen (Committee 
Advisor). 
 

Conduct of 
Business: 

This meeting was held via video conference and live streamed to Council’s 
YouTube channel. All members participating via video conference count for the 
purpose of the meeting quorum in accordance with clause 25B of Schedule 7 to 
the Local Government Act 2002.   
The meeting was held in public under the above provisions from 10.03am to 
11:30am except where expressly noted. 
 

 
Open Section 
 

A1. Apologies 
 FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/12) to accept apologies 
from Cr Olds, Cr Jephson and Kit Nixon. 

  (Moved Cr Colenso/Seconded Mayor Beijen)                     Carried  
 

A2. Conflicts of Interest 
There were no conflicts of interest declared. 
 

A3. Public Participation 
There was no public participation. 
 

A4. Actions from Public Participation 
There were no actions from public participation. 
 
 

1



A5. Extraordinary Business 
FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/13) to add item B2, the 
Bank Signatories Report. It was not on the agenda due to recent confirmation of 
personnel changes and cannot be deferred because having sufficient numbers of 
signatories is prudent for business continuity purposes, and two signatories are 
required for all transactions. 

   (Moved Mayor Beijen/Seconded Cr Colenso)            Carried 
 
B2. Bank Signatories Report (Item Moved) 
Ms Clarke spoke to the report and answered members queries regarding the 
processes and requirements to access to Council bank accounts; and how to 
increase efficiencies in this space.  There was discussion on current accounts and 
requirements for those to remain open and those to be closed.  

 
 FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/14) to: 

1. Receive the report. 
2. Approve the additional name bank signatories: Charlotte (Charly) Clarke, Karen 

Ashforth (effective 7 June 2022), Paul Gardner, Stefan Corbett, Amanda Bradley. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen/Seconded Cr Colenso)         Carried  

3. Approve the recommendation to close the Kiwibank account.  
(Moved Cr Emms /Seconded Cr West)                           Carried 

4. Upon leaving Council, any signatories are automatically removed on their final 
day of work.   
(Moved Cr Colenso/Seconded Cr Emms)            Carried 

 
A6. Minutes for Confirmation 

FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/14) that the minutes of 
the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee meeting held on 30 March 2022 are a true 
and correct record. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen/Seconded Cr Emms)          Carried
         

B Decision Reports 

 B1. Funding for Reprioritised Capital from Fiscal Stimulus Report 

Cr Hay and Ms Clark provided context/background to the paper.  Members queried 
the loan length and considered options presented.  Cr Hay had spoken with Cr Olds, 
Cr Jephson and Mr Nixon (Independent Member) who were supportive of the 
report recommendations. 

  

2



  FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/15) to:  

1. Receive the Funding for Reprioritised Capital from Fiscal Stimulus Report. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen /Seconded Cr Emms)         Carried 

2. Recommend to Council that the additional capital expenditure be funded 
through the depreciation reserve. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen / Seconded Cr Emms) Carried 

 
C Information and Verbal Reports from Chief Executive and Staff 

C1. Finance Report 
   
 Cr Hay thanked Ms Clarke for her work whilst awaiting the onboarding of the new 

General Manager Finance. 
Ms Clarke spoke to highlights in the report, noting that the budget overall is being 
adhered to and outlined areas exceeding income.   
Ms Clarke answered members’ queries in relation interest, income and expenditure. 
Ms Clarke noted the majority of expenditure had been focused on IT hardware/ 
upgrades and additional staff.  Infrastructure for IT still requires further work and is 
being progressed within budget.  
Ms Clarke noted the issues around the management of water supplies has been 
resolved by stimulus programmes.  Amenities were within budget and there were 
no changes in the reserve. 
Mr Wilson informed members that funding has been applied from Waka Kotahi for 
the recent collapse that led to road closure at Cape Palliser and members queried 
whether this could be included in the Eco Reef project.   

  Rates arrears were discussed, and reductions were noted. 
   

FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/16) to:  
1. Receive the Finance Report. 
2. Note exceedance in February 2022 to the investment thresholds. 

(Moved Cr Colenso /Seconded Mayor Beijen)        Carried 
   

C2. Policy and Governance Report  
Ms Bradley spoke to matters outlined in the report, including the development of 
the strategic risk register, a workshop being planned to support this and provided 
insight into the all of Government (AoG) tool.  
Ms Bradley answered queries from members in relation to timeframes, scoring and 
use of the AoG tool, noting that robust policies and processes need to be in place to 
support better scoring. The Operating Risk Register is still actively being managed 
and reviewed whilst awaiting development of this document. 
Ms Bradley provided an overview of the policy review, including increased capacity 
and timeframes for progressing this work.    
Ms Bradley spoke on the progress of the resident’s perception survey and answered 
queries from members about benchmarking. 
Ms Bradley informed members that there is work underway on the report 
templates to support a reduction in length and usefulness for members.  

3



 
FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/17) to receive the 
Policy and Governance Report. 
(Moved Cr Colenso /Seconded Cr West)           Carried 

 
C3. Climate Change Report 

 Ms Barthe spoke to matters in the report, outlined key lessons, reasoning behind 
the adoption of a risk and resilience strategy and the methods used to develop this.  
Work on risk ratings would be progressed through a workshop and presented to the 
next Finance, Audit and Risk Committee meeting. 
Ms Barthe noted this work is only for the Council, not for the wider community and 
is also working alongside other local councils on impact assessments. 

  
FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/18) to receive the 
Climate Change Report. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen/Seconded Cr Colenso)  Carried 

 
B4. Action Items Report 

  Members sought updates to Action 55 and Action 54 was closed. 
Members noted there was a significant Government announcement on approach to 
waste recycling and sought update of Action 248 to capture this.  

   
FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE RESOLVED (FAR2022/19) to receive the 
Action Items Report. 
(Moved Mayor Beijen/Seconded Cr West) Carried 

 
The meeting closed at 11:30am.  
 
Confirmed as a true and correct record 
 

………………………………………..(Chair)  
 

………………………………………..(Date) 

4



FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

22 JUNE 2022 

  

 

AGENDA ITEM B1 

 

SETTING FEES AND CHARGES FOR OFFICIAL INFORMATION 
REQUESTS 
  

Purpose of Report 

The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the proposed official information request 
fees and charges. 

Recommendations 

Officers recommend that the Committee: 

1. Receive the Setting Fees and Charges for Official Information Requests Report.  

2. Recommend that Council adopt the proposed fees and charges for official 
information requests for 2022/23. 

1. Background 

Council work under the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 and 
the Privacy Act 2020. Any member of the public has the right to request information. We 
treat any requests for information a request made under the Local Government Official 
Information and Meetings Act 1987 (LGOIMA) or the Privacy Act 2020. 

Council is entitled to charge for requests for information and has utilised this on occasion. 
For transparency, it is proposed this be added to council’s schedule of fees and charges for 
2022/23 to be included in the Annual Plan.  

This report provides information on the proposed changes to fees and charges for 
answering official information requests and how this will be implemented by council 
officers. 

2. Discussion 

2.1 Levels of service 

Over the past 12 months, council officers noted an increase in the volume and complexity of 
official information requests. On average, council receives 10 requests per month for official 
information. 

5



2.2 Fees and charges 

Fees and charges relating to official information requests covers staff time exceeding one 
hour spent in actioning the request, photocopy or printed pages to be provided exceeding 
20, and any other costs for example: provision of video/audio/film tapes, documents on 
computer discs, off-site information retrieval.  

The Chief Executive for council previously addressed fees and charges in 2014, which was 
then set at $37.50 per half hour and 20 cents per copy.  Based on the Ministry of Justice and 
Ombudsman guidelines, the charge for staff time states $38 per half hour. The charges for 
copies remains unchanged. Please refer to Appendix 1 and 2 for the charging guides. 

2.3 Decision making 

The guide observes that sections 13(1), (3) and (4) of the LGOIMA anticipate charging 
decisions being taken on a case-by-case basis by a local authority, where it is reasonable for 
it to do so, after ‘having regard’ to the labour and materials involved in making the 
information available. Charging is not generally intended to directly offset the costs 
associated with meeting information requests, except where those costs are incurred 
pursuant to a request by the requester for urgency (section 13(3) of the LGOIMA refers).  

Ombudsmen also expect agencies to turn their mind to the public interest considerations 
favouring disclosure of the information before fixing a charge, including whether the 
personal circumstances of the requester are such that it would be unreasonable to charge 
them for the supply of the information at issue.   

Requests that incur fees and charges will be recorded by the council officer undertaking this 
work.  Please refer to Appendix 3 for an exemplar. 

2.4 Current informal process 

1. Council receives OIA request 
2. Assigned council officer logs request 
3. Council officer sends request to appropriate person and asks if the response will 

take: 
a. Longer than 1 hour (minimum “free”) 
b. More than 20 pages copied (minimum “free”) 

i. And if so, an estimate of the time involved and number of copies 
ii. if the response is to be reviewed, and if it complex or politically 

sensitive it must be, to add this time 
4. If 3 a and/or b are positive, council officer will calculate the cost and advise the 

requester, based on a minimum of half hour lots – i.e. if it runs one minute into a 
half hour then the full half hour is charged 

a. No action will be taken until council receive the funds  
b. If the requester can pay for the request, council officer will request 

finance team to generate an invoice and log payment 
i. No info released until invoice paid 

5. If 3a and b are negative, then the information can be collated and sent 
a. Council officer to log response as normal. 

6



3. Other considerations 

3.1 Tāngata whenua 

There are no issues identified in relation to iwi or hapu. 

3.2 Financial impact 

There are no additional costs in relation to this proposed change.  Fees and charges do not 
have a material impact on rates revenue and align with cost recovery. 

3.3 Community Engagement requirements 

No community engagement required. 

3.4 Risks 

No additional risks identified. 

4. Conclusion 

In summary, officers recommend that the proposed fees for official information requests be 
approved for the 2022/23 financial year. The implementation of the fee charges is our 
recognition and response to the volume and complexity of requests and aligns with other 
local district councils.  
 
Officers will prepare public notification of the new fees in line with the release of the Annual 
Plan 2022/23. 

5. Appendices 

Appendix 1 –  Ministry of Justice, Charging Guidelines for Official Information Act 1982 
Requests 

Appendix 2 – Ombudsman, A guide to charging for official information under the OIA and 
LGOIMA 

Appendix 3 - Record of fee payments exemplar. 
 

 

Contact Officer: Amanda Bradley, General Manager, Policy & Governance 

Reviewed By: Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer 

  

7



Appendix 1 – Ministry of Justice, Charging 

Guidelines for Official Information Act 

1982 Requests 

  

8



Ministry of Justice,
Charging Guidelines for Official Information Act
1982 Requests

18 March 2002

Official Information Act: Charging for Services

On 18 March 2002 the Government approved the following revised
guidelines for charging for official information. These guidelines
replace those approved by the State Sector Committee in January
1992 (STA (92) M 1/3) and set out in the Department of Justice
memorandum of 26 February 1992.

They are provided for Government Departments, Crown Entities,
State-owned Enterprises and all other organisations which are subject
to the Official Information Act 1982.  They represent what the
Government regards as reasonable charges for the purposes of the
Official Information Act and should be followed in all cases unless
good reason exists for not doing so. Organisations covered by the Act
who wish to develop their own charging regimes should be aware that
charges are liable to review by  an Ombudsman.

1. EXISTING CHARGES TO REMAIN

1.1 There are currently areas where access to official information is given
free of charge or pursuant to an existing charging arrangement set out
in an enactment or regulations. The Official Information Act 1982
does not derogate from such access (section 52 refers); those
arrangements are not changed by these guidelines.

2. FIXING THE AMOUNT OF CHARGE

2.1 The amount of charge should be determined by:

9



2

(a) establishing what type of information has been requested:

(i) if an identifiable natural person seeks access to personal
information about that person then the request is
governed by the Privacy Act 1993. These guidelines do
not apply;

(ii) these guidelines apply to all requests for official
information, and requests by body corporates for
personal information about that body corporate.  

 
 (b) the aggregate amount of staff time exceeding one hour spent in

actioning the request.

This will include search and retrieval of information, the
provision of transcripts and the supervision of access.

(c) the number of A4 sized or foolscap photocopy or printed pages
to be provided exceeding 20.

Non standard sized photocopy or printed paper such as that
used for reproducing maps and plans will be charged on an
actual and reasonable basis.

(d) for any other cost, the amount actually incurred in responding
to the request.

This will cover the provision of copies of video, audio and film
tapes, the provision of documents on computer disc, the
retrieval of information off-site, or other situations where a
direct charge is incurred.

2.2 Where repeated requests from the same source are made in respect of
a common subject over intervals of up to eight weeks, requests after
the first should be aggregated for charging purposes.

2.3 The charge should represent a reasonable fee for access given.  It may
include time spent:

- in searching an index to establish the location of the

10



3

information;

- in locating (physically) and extracting the information from the
place where it is held;

- in reading or reviewing the information; and

- in supervising the access to the information.

The charge should not include any allowance for:

- extra time spent locating and retrieving information when it is
not where it ought to be; or

- time spent deciding whether or not access should be allowed
and in what form.  Note however that the actual, physical
editing of protected information is chargeable.

2.4 Where the free threshold is only exceeded by a small margin it is a
matter of discretion whether any fee should be paid and if so, how
much.

3. STAFF TIME

3.1 Time spent by staff searching for relevant material, abstracting and
collating, copying, transcribing and supervising access where the total
time involved is in excess of one hour should be charged out as
follows, after that first hour:

- an initial charge of $38 for the first chargeable half hour or part
thereof; and

- then $38 for each additional half hour or part thereof.

3.2 The rate of charge applies irrespective of the seniority or grading of
the staff member who deals with the request, except where staff with
specialist expertise who are not on salary are required to process the
request, in which case a higher rate not above their actual rate of pay
may be charged.

11



4

3.3 Time spent by staff in deciding whether or not to approve access and
in what form to provide information should not be charged.  While the
decision to delete protected information is not chargeable, the physical
editing is part of making the information available and is subject to
charges.

4. PHOTOCOPYING

4.1 Photocopying or printing on standard A4 or foolscap paper where the
total number of pages is in excess of 20 pages should be charged out
as follows:

- 20c for each page after the first 20 pages.

5. OTHER COSTS

5.1 All other charges incurred should be fixed at an amount which
recovers up to the actual costs involved. This would include:

- the provision of documents on computer discs;

- the retrieval of information off-site;

- reproducing a film, video or audio recording;

- arranging for the applicant to hear or view an audio or visual
recording; and

- providing a copy of any map, plan or other document larger
than foolscap size.

6. COST RECOVERY FOR COMMERCIALLY VALUABLE
INFORMATION

6.1 It is reasonable to recover actual costs involved in producing and
supplying information of commercial value. However, the full cost of
producing it in the first instance should not be charged to subsequent
requesters.

12



5

7. REMISSION OF CHARGES

7.1 The liability to pay any charge may be modified or waived at the
discretion of the department or organisation receiving the request.
Such decisions should have regard to the circumstances of each
request. However, it would be appropriate to consider inter alia:

- whether payment might cause the applicant hardship;

- whether remission or reduction of the charge would facilitate
good relations with the public or assist the department or
organisation in its work; and

- whether remission or reduction of the charge would be in the
public interest because it is likely to contribute significantly to
public understanding of, or effective participation in, the
operations or activities of the government, and the disclosure of
the information is not primarily in the commercial interest of
the requester.

7.2 Questions which could be asked by decision makers in order to
establish the level of public interest are, inter alia:

- Is the use of the information by the requester likely to make a
significant contribution to operations and activities of
government?

- Has the government requested submissions from the public on a
particular subject and is the information necessary to enable
informed comment?

- Is the use of information likely to contribute significantly to the
understanding of the subject by the public at large as opposed to
the individual understanding of the requester or a narrow
segment of interested people?

- Is the information already in the public domain in either the

13



6

same or similar form which the requester could acquire without
substantial cost?

- Is the public at large the primary beneficiary of the expenditure
of public funds necessary to release the information or is it for
the requester or a narrow segment of interested people?

- Is the information primarily in the commercial interest of the
requester rather than the public interest?

7.3 While it might appear on initial consideration that requests for
information for, say, research purposes or to write a book or to have
available in a library, might be considered in the "public interest" and
so answer some of the criteria, this may not necessarily be so. There
should still be reasonable evidence to show that wider public benefit
will accrue as a result of that research, or book or library depository.
In the case of the media, however, it can be reasonably assumed that
they do have access to means of public dissemination. Each request
should be considered on a case-by-case basis in light of all relevant
information.

7.4 Members of Parliament may be exempted from charges for official
information provided for their own use.  This discretion may be
extended to cover political party parliamentary research units when
the request for official information has the endorsement of a Member
of Parliament. In exercising this discretion it would be appropriate to
consider whether remission of charges would be consistent with the
need to provide more open access to official information for Members
of Parliament in terms of the reasonable exercise of their democratic
responsibilities. The overall scheme of the legislation recognises that
there is a balance between promoting readier access to official
information and the administrative cost in time, labour and materials
of that access. Accordingly, one of the factors to be taken into account
when deciding whether a part or full charge may be appropriate is the
amount of time and resources taken to provide the information
requested.

14



7

8. DEPOSITS

8.1 A deposit may be required where the charge is likely to exceed $76
[an hour of chargeable staff time] or where some assurance of
payment is required to avoid waste of resources. A deposit may only
be requested after a decision has been made to make the information
available.

8.2 The applicant should be notified of the amount of deposit required, the
method of calculating the charge and the likely final amount to be
paid. Work on the request may be suspended pending receipt of the
deposit.

8.3 The unused portion of any deposit should be refunded forthwith to the
applicant together with a statement detailing how the balance was
expended.

9. COST CONTROL

9.1 It is useful to keep in mind certain provisions in the Official
Information Act 1982 which may reduce the amount of staff time and
resources incurred in dealing with requests. These provisions, which
should be considered when a request is first received, are namely:

(a) Sections 12(2) and 13 which enable the holder of the
information to ask the requester to specify the request with due
particularity in order to narrow down the scope of the request
and thereby reduce staff time and effort in responding.  Note
that section 13 places a duty on the holder to give reasonable
assistance to a person to make their request in a manner that is
in accordance with section 12;

(b) Section 14(b)(ii) which enables the holder to transfer the
request where the request relates more closely to the functions
of another department, Minister or organisation and where that
other department, Minister or organisation is therefore able to
deal with the request more efficiently;

15



8

(c) Section 18(f) which enables the holder to refuse requests which
require substantial collation or research; and

(d) Section 16 which enables the holder to provide information in a
manner other than that requested where compliance with the
requester’s preferred method of disclosure would “impair
efficient administration”.

10. REVIEW OF DECISIONS ON CHARGES

10.1 Section 28(l)(b) of the Official Information Act 1982 provides that the
Ombudsman may investigate and review any decision on the charge to
be paid in respect of a request for access to official information. When
informing applicants of charges to be paid, organisations should point
out this right of appeal to the Ombudsman.

10.2 A record should be kept of all costs incurred. Wherever a liability to
pay is incurred the applicant should be notified of the method of
calculating the charge and this fact noted on the record.

11. OMBUDSMAN INVESTIGATIONS

11.1 Any Ombudsman discharging statutory functions of investigation
under the Ombudsmen Act 1975, whether for the purposes of that Act,
or for reviews under the Official Information Act 1982 or the Local
Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987, is not
subject to any charging regime. A statutory duty is imposed under that
legislation on the person or organisation to comply with any request
made pursuant to such an investigation and charging regimes under
Government policy are not applicable.

12. GST

12.1 The charges given in these guidelines are inclusive of GST.

16



Appendix 2 – Ombudsman, A guide to 
charging for official information under 

the OIA and LGOIMA 
  

17



 

Charging 

A guide to charging for official information under 
the OIA and LGOIMA 
 

Agencies can make reasonable charges for supplying official 
information under the OIA and LGOIMA. 

This guide explains: 

 when it is reasonable to charge; 

 what an agency can charge for; 

 what is a reasonable charge; and  

 how to charge. 

It also has practical resources including a step-by-step work sheet for 
charging, a template charging letter and a sample estimate of costs. 

 

 

18



Contents 

What the Acts say ___________________________________________________ 3 

When is it reasonable to charge? _______________________________________ 4 

What can an agency charge for? ________________________________________ 5 

Activities that can be charged for _____________________________________________ 6 

Activities that can’t be charged for ____________________________________________ 6 

What is a reasonable charge? __________________________________________ 7 

Charging Guidelines _______________________________________________________ 7 

Remission of charges _______________________________________________________ 8 

Remission in the public interest ____________________________________________ 8 

Remission due to hardship ________________________________________________ 9 

Is it reasonable to charge MPs and parliamentary research units? ___________________ 9 

Is it reasonable to charge the news media? ____________________________________ 10 

Charging for commercially valuable information ________________________________ 11 

How to charge _____________________________________________________ 11 

Some basics _____________________________________________________________ 11 

Calculating the charge _____________________________________________________ 13 

Communicating the decision to charge _______________________________________ 14 

Engaging with the requester ________________________________________________ 15 

Options for reducing or removing the need to charge ____________________________ 16 

Developing a charging policy __________________________________________ 17 

Other types of charge _______________________________________________ 18 

Charges set by other enactments ____________________________________________ 18 

Information for sale ______________________________________________________ 18 

Official information available for purchase __________________________________ 18 

Information that can be created for a fee ___________________________________ 19 

Further guidance ___________________________________________________ 19 

Appendix 1. Step-by-step work sheet for charging ________________________ 20 

Appendix 2. Case studies _____________________________________________ 23 

Index __________________________________________________________________ 23 

Appendix 3. Template charging letter ___________________________________ 39 

Appendix 4. Sample estimate of costs __________________________________ 41 

 

19



What the Acts say 
There is no specific charging provision in the OIA and LGOIMA. What they say about charging is 
found in the section dealing with decisions on requests (section 15 of the OIA and section 13 of 
the LGOIMA). In essence: 

 An agency ‘may charge for the supply of official information’.1  

 An agency that receives a request for official information must, within the statutory or 
extended timeframe,2 make and communicate its decision ‘whether the request is to be 
granted and [if so] in what manner and for what charge (if any)’.3   

 Any charge fixed must be ‘reasonable’, and regard may be had to the cost of labour and 

materials involved in making the information available, and any costs incurred in meeting 
an urgent request.4  

 An agency can require the whole or part of any charge to be paid in advance.5  

 Complaints about charges can be investigated by the Ombudsman.6 

This means that agencies can impose a reasonable charge—subject to external review by the 
Ombudsman—to recover some of the costs of actually making the information available.  

Charge means release  

In order to charge, an agency must have already decided to release at least some of the 
information at issue. This is because the legislation only authorises a charge to be made: 

 at the same time as a decision to grant the request;7  

 for the supply of official information.8  

No charge can be made in respect of information that is withheld.  

1  See s 15(1A) OIA and s 13(1A) LGOIMA. 

2  For more information about timeframes, see our guides The OIA for Ministers and agencies and The LGOIMA 

for local government agencies. 

3  See s 15(1)(a) OIA and s 13(1)(a) LGOIMA.  

4  See s 15(2) OIA and s 13(3) LGOIMA. Note also s 13(2) LGOIMA, which provides that any charge ‘shall not 

exceed the prescribed amount’. However, no prescribed amount has ever been set. 

5  See s 15(3) OIA and s 13(4) LGOIMA. 

6  See s 28(1)(b) OIA and s 27(1)(b) LGOIMA. 

7  An agency must decide ‘whether the request is to be granted and [if so] in what manner and for what 

charge’—see s 15(1)(a) OIA and s 13(1)(a) LGOIMA. 

8  An agency ‘may charge for the supply of official information’—see s 15(1A) OIA and s 13(1A) LGOIMA. 

20

http://legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1982/0156/latest/DLM65390.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_official+information_resel_25_a&p=1
http://legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1987/0174/latest/DLM122297.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_official+information_resel_25_a&p=1
http://legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1987/0174/latest/DLM122297.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_official+information_resel_25_a&p=1
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings


When is it reasonable to charge? 
It is not generally reasonable to charge for complying with simple requests. However, it may 
be reasonable to recover some of the costs associated with requests for information that 
would require considerable labour and materials. As the Committee that recommended the 
enactment of the OIA (the Danks Committee) noted:9 

Doubtless many enquiries, as at present, will be capable of ready and convenient 
response. To levy fees or charges other than for copying at the ‘easy’ end of 
answering would be seen as obstructive, and would frustrate the openness we seek. 
But some enquiries will doubtless engage considerable time and attention when 
less obviously available answers are sought. Search, abstraction, collation and 

copying could combine into formidable workloads. Even if research or quasi-
research activities are firmly ruled out and the simpler enquiries are allowed to be 
free, there is left a middle ground where charging will be warrantable. (Emphasis 
added). 

What is ‘considerable’, in terms of the labour and materials required, will depend on the 
circumstances of the case, including the extent of resources available to the agency to deal 
with the request. What is ‘considerable’ for a small agency with few resources will not be the 
same as what is ‘considerable’ for a large agency with lots of resources. It may be reasonable 
to charge if a request will have a significant impact on the agency’s ability to carry out its other 
operations. 

When a request is so considerable that it would require ‘substantial collation or research’ to 

make the information available, agencies are expressly required to consider whether charging 
would enable the request to be met.10  

It may also be relevant to consider the requester’s recent conduct. If the requester has 
previously made a large volume of time-consuming requests to an agency, it may be 
reasonable to start charging in order to recover some of the costs associated with meeting 
further requests.  

Note, however, that some requesters (for example, MPs and members of the news media), 
may have good reasons for making frequent requests for official information, and they should 
not be penalised for doing so (see Is it reasonable to charge MPs and parliamentary research 
units and Is it reasonable to charge the news media?).  

  

9  Committee on Official Information. Towards Open Government: Supplementary Report (July 1981) at 35. 

10  See ss 18(f) and 18A(1)(a) OIA and ss 17(f) and 17A(1)(a) LGOIMA. 

21

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/towards-open-government-danks-report


What can an agency charge for?  

Charging under the OIA and LGOIMA is not generally about full cost-recovery.11 Full cost-
recovery would be inconsistent with the purpose of the legislation, which is to progressively 
increase the availability of official information to the people of New Zealand. As the Law 
Commission has noted:12 

The role of charging in the official information process has never been a full cost-
recovery exercise. Where charges are applied they represent a partial recovery of 
some aspects of agency time and other costs incurred in responding to requests 
(emphasis added). 

Hence there are: 

 activities that can be charged for; and 

 activities that can’t be charged for. 

The key restriction is that agencies cannot charge for time spent deciding whether or not to 
release information.  This is because charges are only authorised for the supply of official 
information, in the context of a decision having already been made to grant the request (see 
Charge means release).  

There is a cost associated with agency compliance with the official information legislation. 
However, as the Danks Committee observed, that cost is part of the government’s 
responsibility to keep people informed of its activities (the term ‘government’ being read in 
the widest possible sense).13 

The official information legislation is an important part of New Zealand’s constitution,14 and 
processing official information requests is a core agency function. Costs that cannot be passed 
on to the requester must be carried by the agency, both in infrastructural terms, and in its 
administrative and budgeting arrangements.  

11  It may be reasonable to recover the full costs of supply in some limited circumstances, see Charging for 

commercially valuable information.  

12  Law Commission. The Public’s Right to Know: Review of the Official Information Legislation. (NZLC R125, 2012) 

at 202. 

13  Committee on Official Information. Towards Open Government: General Report (December 1980) at 37. 

14  The OIA has been described as ‘a constitutional measure’ (Commissioner of Police v Ombudsman [1988] 1 NZLR 

385 (CA) at 391), and ‘an important component of New Zealand’s constitutional matrix’ (Kelsey v the Minister 
of Trade [2015] NZHC 2497 at paragraph 19). 

22

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/towards-open-government-danks-report


Activities that can be charged for 

Remember, these can only be calculated once the decision on release has already been made 
(see Charge means release). 

Labour  Search and retrieval 

 Collation (bringing together the information at issue) 

 Research (reading and reviewing to identify the information 
at issue) 

 Editing (the physical task of excising or redacting withheld 
information) 

 Scanning or copying 

 Reasonably required peer review in order to ensure that the 
above tasks have been carried out correctly 

 Formatting information in a way sought by the requester 

 Supervising access (where the information at issue is made 
available for inspection) 

 Reproducing film, video or audio recordings 

Materials  Paper (for photocopying) 

 Discs or other electronic storage devices that information is 

provided on 

Other actual and direct 
costs 

 Retrieval of information from off-site 

Activities that can’t be charged for 

Decision making 

See case 178413  

 Work required to decide whether to grant the request in 

whole or part, including: 

- reading and reviewing to decide on withholding or release; 

- seeking legal advice to decide on withholding or release;  

- consultation to decide on withholding or release; and 

- peer review of the decision to withhold or release. 

 Work required to decide whether to charge and if so, how 

much, including estimating the charge. 

23



Administrative 
inefficiencies or poor 
record-keeping 

See case 172047  

 Searching for / retrieving information that is not where it 
should be because of administrative inefficiencies or poor 
record-keeping  

Administrative costs 
associated with the way 
an agency chooses to 
process a request  

See case 177195  

 Drafting a cover letter 

 Drafting a briefing for the Minister 

 Formatting information in a way preferred by the agency but 
not sought by the requester  

Costs not directly 

related to supplying the 
information  

See case 307851  

 General overheads, including costs of establishing and 

maintaining systems and storage facilities 

What is a reasonable charge? 

In most cases, a charge will be reasonable if it has been set:  

1. in accordance with the current Government Charging Guidelines (or equivalent charging 
policy); and 

2. with due regard to any circumstances warranting remission. 

Charging Guidelines  

The Government has issued Charging Guidelines to be followed by agencies subject to the OIA. 
These can be accessed from the Ministry of Justice website www.justice.govt.nz.  

Successive Ombudsmen have accepted that charges set in accordance with the Charging 
Guidelines are reasonable, provided due regard has been paid to any circumstances warranting 
remission (see Remission of charges). 

The Charging Guidelines specify standard charges of: 

 $38 per half hour of staff time in excess of one hour; and  

 $0.20 per page for photocopying in excess of 20 pages. 

An agency may be justified in charging higher rates for staff time where staff with specialist 
expertise that are not on salary (ie, contractors) are required to process the request, in which 
case a rate not exceeding their actual rate of pay per hour may be charged. 

24

http://www.justice.govt.nz/


Although the Charging Guidelines do not apply to local government agencies, it is reasonable 
for such agencies to make their charging decisions in accordance with the guidelines (see cases 
176345 and 368207 and 307851).  

Agencies may develop their own charging policies (see Developing a charging policy). However, 
the application of an internal charging policy that is inconsistent with the Charging Guidelines, 
for example, by charging higher rates for staff time or photocopying, risks an Ombudsman’s 
finding on review that the charge in question was unreasonable (also see cases 176345 and 
368207 and 307851). 

Remission of charges 

The setting of a ‘reasonable’ charge for supplying official information requires due regard to be 
given to any circumstances warranting remission. Remission means reducing or cancelling the 
charge that would otherwise be set. Remission may be warranted because: 

 there is a compelling public interest in making the information available; and/or  

 meeting the charge would be likely to cause hardship to the requester. 

Remission in the public interest  

Agencies must consider whether there any circumstances warranting remission of the charge 
in the public interest.  

Read our guide to the Public interest, which sets out some example public interest 

considerations favouring release of official information, and some factors that can affect the 
weight of the public interest in release.15  

The Charging Guidelines also set out some public interest considerations and questions that 
should be considered by agencies before imposing a charge. As noted above, these guidelines 
can be accessed from the Ministry of Justice website www.justice.govt.nz. 

In addition, the following questions are relevant:  

1. Is there is a public interest in making the information generally available—that is, not 
just to the requester? If so, it may be unreasonable to make the requester alone bear the 
cost of release (see case 274689). 

2. Does the information have special relevance to the requester? If the personal interests 

of the requester give rise to a broader public interest in release to that person (for 
example, to promote procedural fairness), it may be unreasonable to charge, or to 
charge the full amount. 

15  While this is a guide to conducting the public interest test in section 9(1) of the OIA (section 7(1) of the 

LGOIMA), the same considerations are relevant in deciding whether remission of charges is warranted in the 
public interest. 

25

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/public-interest-guide-public-interest-test
http://www.justice.govt.nz/


In cases 274689, 172047 and W50332 the Ombudsman concluded the charge should be 
remitted wholly or in part due to the public interest. In cases 400121, 319893, 302392, 178468 
and 177195 the Ombudsmen concluded the public interest did not require remission of the 
charge.  

Remission due to hardship 

Agencies must also consider whether meeting the charge would be likely to cause hardship to 
the requester. Hardship means the charge will be excessively costly for the requester to bear, 
such that the requester will be unable to meet the charge and still afford the essentials for life 
or business.  

Whether hardship is likely to occur will depend on the level of the proposed charge and the 

financial means of the requester. An agency should consider what it already knows about the 
financial means of the requester (if anything), as well as any information advanced by the 
requester in support of an assertion of limited means. It does not have to actively enquire into 
a requester’s financial means before deciding to impose a charge. 

In a number of cases, the Ombudsmen have concluded that hardship on its own is insufficient 
reason to remit an otherwise reasonable charge in full. There should also be some other public 
interest factors favouring disclosure of the information (see cases 177195 and 178486). 

Is it reasonable to charge MPs and parliamentary research units? 

There is nothing in the legislation which says that MPs and parliamentary research units cannot 

be charged for the supply of official information. However, the usual approach has been to 
remit any charge that would otherwise have been fixed, in recognition of the public interest in 
MPs having access to official information to assist in the reasonable exercise of their 
democratic responsibilities. 

The Charging Guidelines state:16 

Members of Parliament may be exempted from charges for official information 
provided for their own use. This discretion may be extended to cover political party 
parliamentary research units when the request for official information has the 
endorsement of a Member of Parliament. In exercising this discretion it would be 
appropriate to consider whether remission of charges would be consistent with the 
need to provide more open access to official information for Members of Parliament 

in terms of the reasonable exercise of their democratic responsibilities. 

There are important reasons for not charging MPs and parliamentary research units:17 

[These include] the Opposition’s limited resources, and the constitutional 
importance of the [OIA] (and the parliamentary question procedure) as means of 

16  See paragraph 7.4 of the Charging Guidelines. 

17  Law Commission. Review of the Official Information Act 1982 (NZLC R40, 1997) at 57. 

26



keeping the executive accountable to the legislature. Scrutiny and control over the 
activities of the government have long been recognised as amongst Parliament’s 
most important functions. Indeed, s 4 of the Act expressly refers to ‘the principle of 
the Executive Government’s responsibility to Parliament’. Because of the whip 
system and other forms of party discipline, the scrutiny and control functions in 
practice fall largely on the Opposition; to exercise them effectively it must have 
access to information. Replies to Opposition requests for official information and 
parliamentary questions, published or broadcast in the media, in turn form an 
important source of information to the public about the activities of government. 

These important reasons mean it will often be unreasonable to charge MPs and parliamentary 
research units for the supply of official information.   

However, charging MPs and parliamentary research units is permissible under the legislation, 
and may be reasonable in some circumstances. As the Law Commission noted in 2012:18 

There is no reason why unreasonable political requests should be completely 

exempt. Voluminous and unrefined requests from parliamentary research units can 
cause a great deal of expenditure of resources. The charging mechanism should be 
available to agencies as a defence mechanism in appropriate cases, regardless of 
the source of the request (emphasis added). 

The Ombudsman has, on occasion, upheld charges against MPs who have made excessively 
burdensome requests (see case 172047).  

Is it reasonable to charge the news media? 

Members of the news media19 are in the same position as any other requester when it comes 
to charging. A reasonable charge may be imposed, in accordance with the Charging Guidelines, 
and with due regard to any circumstances warranting remission.  

However, when assessing whether remission is warranted in the public interest, agencies 
should consider the important democratic and constitutional role of the news media in 
informing members of the public. As the courts have recognised (in articulating the rationale 
for openness in judicial proceedings), the news media act as the ‘surrogates of the public’.20 

The public interest role performed by the news media may make it unreasonable, in the 

circumstances of the particular case, to charge, or to charge the full amount.  

18  Note 12 at 211. 

19  Following the definition in s 68(5) of the Evidence Act 2006, 'news media' is media for the dissemination to the 

public or a section of the public of news and observations on news. Following the judgment of the High Court 
in Slater v Blomfield [2014] NZHC 2221, this can include a blogger who regularly disseminates news (ie, new 
information about recent events or events of interest to the public), or observations on news, to a significant 
body of the public. 

20  R v Liddell [1995] 1 NZLR 538, 546–547.   

27

http://legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2006/0069/latest/DLM393681.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_evidence+act_resel_25_a&p=1


In case 179387, the Ombudsman concluded that notwithstanding the media’s important 
function of informing the public on matters of public interest, it was reasonable to charge for 
the requested information.  

Charging for commercially valuable information  

As noted earlier, charging under the OIA and LGOIMA is not generally about full cost-recovery 
(see What can an agency charge for?). However, it may be reasonable to recover the full costs 
of supplying information of commercial value to the requester. This is on the basis that the 
cost will generally be able to be recovered as some form of business expense.  

The Charging Guidelines say:21 

It is reasonable to recover actual costs involved in producing and supplying 
information of commercial value. However, the full cost of producing it in the first 
instance should not be charged to subsequent requesters. 

Agencies should first be satisfied that the requester: 

 has a commercial (ie, profit seeking) motive; and 

 is likely to use the information to generate a profit. 

As in any case, it will still be necessary to consider the public interest in remission of the 
proposed charge. One relevant consideration in this context is the public interest in promoting 
commercial innovation and economic growth, which is recognised by the Government’s open 
data initiatives (see www.digital.govt.nz).  

For an example of a case where the agency tried to recover the actual cost of supplying 
information it considered commercially valuable see 172531. 

How to charge  

This section provides advice on how to charge, including calculating the charge, and 
communicating the decision to charge. There can be a bit of work involved in charging, and not 
all requesters are prepared to pay a charge—particularly a large one.  This makes it very 
important to engage with the requester as early as possible, and to consider options for 
reducing or removing the need to charge. 

Some basics 

The basic order of charging looks like this. 

1. Decide to release the information. 

2. Calculate the charge. (See Calculating the charge for details of how to do this.) 

21  See paragraph 6.1 of the Charging Guidelines. 

28

http://www.digital.govt.nz/


3. Communicate the decision to release the information subject to a charge, as soon as 
reasonably practicable and no later than 20 working days after the day the request was 
received (unless that timeframe is extended).22 (See Communicating the decision to 
charge for the details that should be included.) 

4. Await payment of the deposit (if applicable) and/or confirmation that the requester 
accepts the charge. 

5. Prepare the information for release. 

6. Release the information without ‘undue delay’.23 

The decision to charge has to be communicated at the same time as the decision to release 
some or all of the requested information (see Charge means release). This means it must be 

done within the statutory (maximum 20 working days), or extended timeframe.  

It is just the decision on the request (including the decision to charge) that has to be 
communicated within this timeframe. The obligation in terms of releasing the information is to 
do so without ‘undue delay’.24 A delay occasioned solely by awaiting confirmation that the 
requester has accepted the charge or paid the deposit (if applicable) will not be undue. 

It is necessary to spend some time scoping the request and reviewing the information in order 
to decide that the request can be granted and calculate the charge. However, an agency 
should not start preparing the information for release until after the requester has accepted 
the charge or paid the deposit (if applicable). Otherwise the agency will have wasted its time 
preparing the information for release if the requester does not agree to pay the charge.  

Can an agency charge if it has breached the statutory or extended timeframe for 
making a decision? 

Yes. However, agencies should consider whether their breach of timeframes would make 
it unreasonable to charge, or to charge the full amount. Where there have been 
significant delays, or delays resulting from the agency’s own administrative failings, a 
reduction in the charge may be warranted.  

In case 175470, the Ombudsman considered the requester’s argument that a breach of 
timeframes warranted a reduction in the charge. The Ombudsman noted that a 
significant delay in responding has sometimes prompted other agencies not to charge.  

However, the Ombudsman accepted that the delay in that case did not justify a 

reduction. It was occasioned in part by the requester’s changes to the focus and 
complexity of the requests, and by the need to comply with the requester’s specific 

22  See ss 15(1)(a) and 15A OIA and ss 13(1)(a) and 14 LGOIMA. 

23  See s 28(5) OIA and s 27(5) LGOIMA. 

24  See s 28(5) OIA and s 27(5) LGOIMA. 

29



formatting preferences. In addition, the actual time taken to process the request was 
significantly more than the requester was charged for. 

Can an agency charge after it has already released the information? 

No. Decisions on charges must be made at the same time as the decision to release the 
information.  This gives the requester the opportunity to refine or withdraw their request 
in order to avoid the charge.  

In case W45424, the Airways Corporation sought to impose a substantial charge six 
weeks after having already made the information available. At no stage had the 
requester been advised that a charge was contemplated. The Ombudsman found that 
Airways was not entitled to levy a charge, because it had not done so in accordance with 

the legislation (section 15(1) of the OIA). You can read the full case note here. 

In case 299328, a council charged $38.50 to supply a one page document. The charge 
was based on aggregating the time taken to respond to this and previous requests for 
information. The Ombudsman noted that while it is possible to aggregate requests for 
the purpose of calculating a charge,25 any charge must be quoted to the requester before 
the information is provided. A requester cannot be charged by retrospectively 
aggregating responses to previous requests with a new request. 

Calculating the charge 

A charge is calculated by estimating: 

 the volume of information at issue, or that needs to be searched through to find the 
information at issue; 

 the time required to complete the activities that can be charged for;  

- search and retrieval; 

- collation (bringing together the information at issue); 

- research (reading and reviewing to identify the information at issue); 

- editing (the physical task of excising or redacting withheld information); 

- scanning or copying; 

- reasonably required peer review in order to ensure that the above tasks have been 
carried out correctly; and 

 the cost of any materials, for example, paper for photocopying. 

25  See paragraph 2.2 of the Charging Guidelines. 

30

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/charge-imposed-without-forewarning-after-provision-information


Estimating the volume of information at issue is made easier with modern email and 
document management systems. These can be interrogated using appropriate search terms to 
estimate the total number of potentially relevant documents.  

The time required can be estimated by adopting some reasonable assumptions about how 
long it will take to complete the activities that can be charged for. The best way of establishing 
these assumptions is to carry out a sample exercise; that is, by timing how long it takes to do 
the chargeable activities for a representative sample of the information, and using that to 
extrapolate an estimated total. 

Formula for charging 

(([Estimated hours staff time] – 1) x $76) + (([Estimated pages to be photocopied] – 20) x 

$0.20) = [Amount agency may wish to consider charging] 

 

Case 302392 provides an example of how an agency and the Ombudsman went about 
estimating the work involved in processing a request and calculating a reasonable charge. 

There is also a sample estimate of costs in the appendix to this guide that agencies can use as a 
basis for calculating charges.   

Can a charge be increased? 

The Acts talk about charges being ‘fixed’. This suggests that the amount of the charge 
should be ascertainable and reasonably certain by the time a decision is made on the 
request.  

This makes it important for agencies to take the time up front to adequately scope the 
request. Scoping the request means interpreting the request (what is the requester 
asking for?), and identifying the information (what do we hold and where?). Adequate 
scoping is essential for the calculation of accurate charges.  

In preference to having to increase a charge, agencies should aim to calculate the 
maximum charge to the requester, and explain that any unused component of that 
charge will be refunded.  

It may be unreasonable to subsequently increase a charge that has already been fixed 
and agreed to by the requester, particularly if the increase is substantial and/or the 
requester has not been adequately forewarned of that possibility (see case 176924). It 
may also be unreasonable for an agency to change its mind, and subsequently seek to 

refuse a request that was previously granted subject to a charge (see case 304081). 

 

Communicating the decision to charge 

As  noted earlier (see Some basics), the decision to supply information subject to a charge must 
be communicated as soon as reasonably practicable and no later than 20 working days after 
the day the request was received (unless that timeframe is extended). 

31



The decision to charge should explain the following: 

 that the agency has decided to grant the request (or part of the request) for payment of 

a charge; 

 the maximum amount of the charge; 

 how the charge has been calculated (agencies can use the sample estimate of costs in the 
appendix to this guide);  

 whether all or part payment of the charge is required in advance of release of the 
information and, if so, how payment can be made; 

 the timeframe within which the information will be released once the charge is accepted 

and (if applicable) the deposit paid;  

 that the requester has the right to complain to the Ombudsman about the decision to 
charge.  

Where only part of the request is being granted, the information to be released should be 
described in sufficient detail to enable the requester to decide whether it is worth paying the 
charge. 

Agencies should also provide the contact details of a subject matter expect who can provide 
reasonable assistance to the requester if they wish to change or refine their request in a way 
that reduces or removes the need to charge.  

There is a template charging letter in the appendix to this guide. 

Engaging with the requester  

Engaging with the requester is in everyone’s best interests. It means the requester is more 
likely to get what they want in the most efficient way possible.  

The purpose of engaging with the requester is to clarify the request and to help them change 
or refine it in a way that reduces or removes the need to charge. Some requesters simply do 
not understand how much information is held, and how much effort will be needed to provide 
it. Some will be content with a narrowed-down request, or to receive only a few key 
documents among the many available, or to see a list of titles from which they can choose (see 
Options for reducing or removing the need to charge). 

The earlier engagement takes place the better. Calculating a charge requires adequate scoping 
and careful estimation. This is wasted time if the requester is not prepared to pay a charge, or 
a charge of the magnitude being contemplated. Often the best way of engaging with a 
requester is a face-to-face discussion or a discussion over the telephone. The following text box 
has some talking points that agencies could use in a discussion with the requester or adapt for 
written communications. 

Talking points—Engaging with requesters  

32



Here are some talking points for engaging with requesters. 

 ‘It’s a really big request’: Explain that it will take considerable labour and materials to 
meet the request as it is currently framed. 

 ‘We think it will take this much work’: Give any early order estimates of the volume of 
information at issue, the amount of time required to process the request, and the 
impact on the agency’s other operations. 

 ‘We’re thinking of charging’: Explain that unless the request is changed or refined the 
agency is likely to impose a charge. 

 ‘We want to help you refine it’: Explain that the agency wants to work with the 

requester to change or refine the request in a way that reduces or removes the need 
to charge. 

 ‘Here are some of our ideas for how the request could be refined or met without 
having to charge’: Canvass any Options for reducing or removing the need to charge. 

 ‘Here’s who can help’: Provide contact details for a subject matter expert who can 
provide reasonable assistance to the requester to change or refine their request.  

 

Note that in certain circumstances, an agency may be justified in treating any amended or 
clarified request as a new request for the purpose of calculating the maximum timeframe for 
response.26  

Options for reducing or removing the need to charge 

It is important to consider whether there are other ways to meet the request that would 
reduce or remove the need to charge. For example: 

 Identifying relevant information that is readily retrievable and able to be supplied free of 
charge (see cases 319893 and 376161).   

 Refining the time period covered by the request. 

 Refining the types of document covered by the request. For example, document types 
can include: emails, draft papers/reports, final papers/reports, reports or briefings to 
Ministers, aides-memoire, and Cabinet papers. Requesters may be happy to receive key 
documents (such as final papers/reports, or reports/briefings to Ministers or Cabinet), if 

they understand that their request for all information on a subject is problematic and 
may be met with a charge. 

 Providing a list of the documents that are potentially in scope of the request, if one can 
be generated through the agency’s document management system. 

26  See ss 15(1AA) and (1AB) of the OIA and ss 13(7) and (8) of the LGOIMA. See also 'Amended or clarified 

requests' in The OIA for Ministers and agencies or The LGOIMA for local government agencies. 

33

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings


 Limiting search terms by agreement with the requester, thereby yielding a smaller 
number of more relevant results. 

 Providing the information in electronic form, in order to avoid the need for photocopying 
charges.27 

 Providing the information at issue in an alternative form (for example, an opportunity to 
inspect the information or receive an oral briefing on the information),28 and/or subject 
to conditions on publication or dissemination (see case 173607).29  This is permissible 
where supplying the information in the way preferred by the requester would ‘impair 
efficient administration’ (among other reasons).30 The requester may prefer to receive 
the information in an alternative form than to pay a charge.  

Developing a charging policy 

Agencies may wish to develop their own charging policies. In addition to being consistent with 
the law, internal charging policies should meet the following criteria: 

 They should be consistent with the Charging Guidelines.  

Agencies subject to the OIA are generally required to follow the Charging Guidelines (the 
Guidelines say they should be followed ‘in all cases unless good reason exists for not 
doing so’). Agencies subject to the LGOIMA are not required to follow the Charging 
Guidelines. However the application of an internal charging policy that is inconsistent 
with the Charging Guidelines, for example, by charging higher rates for staff time or 

photocopying, risks an Ombudsman’s finding on review that the charge in question was 
unreasonable (see cases 307851 and 176345 and 368207). Inconsistency with the 
Charging Guidelines may be justifiable if it works in the requester’s favour, for instance, 
by charging lower rates for staff time or photocopying, or by allowing a longer free 

period before the ability to charge kicks in. 

 They should be applied on a case by case basis. 

The blanket application of a charging policy (for example, by applying a ‘standard 
charge’) without regard to the circumstances of a particular case is unreasonable. Any 
internal charging policy must retain the flexibility to remit a charge in whole or part 
where that is warranted in the circumstances of the case. Specific regard must be had to 

27  See s 16(1A) OIA and s 15(1A) LGOIMA. 

28  See s 16(1) OIA and s 15(1) LGOIMA. For more information about the form of release see ‘Deciding how to 

release information’ in The OIA for Ministers and agencies or The LGOIMA for local government agencies. 

29  See s 28(1)(c) OIA and s 27(1)(c) LGOIMA. For more information about imposing conditions on the use, 

communication or publication of information see ‘Conditional release’ in The OIA for Ministers and agencies or 
The LGOIMA for local government agencies. Note, in particular, that conditions are not enforceable under the 
official information legislation. 

30  See s 16(2) OIA and s 15(2) LGOIMA. 

34

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings


the public interest in making the information available (see Remission in the public 
interest), and whether meeting the charge would be likely to cause hardship to the 
requester (see Remission due to hardship). 

 They should be publicly available. 

Agencies that have adopted an internal charging policy should make it available to the 
public on their website. This is the type of internal decision making rule that people have 
a right to access under section 22 of the OIA (section 21 of the LGOIMA). 

Our staff are able to provide advice and guidance to agencies developing internal charging 
policies, including reviewing and commenting on draft policies (see Further guidance).  

Other types of charge 

Charges set by other enactments 

Where a charge for access to official information is set by another Act, or by regulations in 
force immediately before the OIA (or LGOIMA),31 that Act or those regulations will prevail. This 
is because there is a savings provision in the OIA and LGOIMA, which provides that nothing in 
the legislation derogates from any provision in any other Act, or in any regulation in force 
immediately before the OIA (or LGOIMA), which regulates the manner in which official 
information may be obtained or made available.32 See case 319893. 

Information for sale  

Some agencies are in the business of selling information. This includes: 

 official information (that is, information that is already held by an agency); and 

 information that an agency has the ability to create. 

Official information available for purchase 

Where official information is available to purchase to any person for a set fee, it may be open 
to an agency to refuse a request for that information under the OIA or LGOIMA on the basis 
that it is already publicly available.33 This is provided the purchase price is not patently 
excessive. See case 177600. 

31  1 July 1983 for the OIA; 1 March 1988 for the LGOIMA. 

32  See s 52(3)(b)(ii) OIA and s 44(2)(b)(ii) LGOIMA. 

33  See s 18(d) OIA and s 17(d) LGOIMA. 

35



Information that can be created for a fee 

Where information can be created for a fee the OIA and LGOIMA will not apply; nor will the 
Charging Guidelines. This is because the OIA and LGOIMA only apply to information that is 
already held by an agency.34 However, an agency will need to be able to demonstrate 
affirmatively that it would need to create the information, as opposed to collating information 
that is already held. 

Any complaint about the fee for creation of information cannot be considered by the 
Ombudsman under the OIA or LGOIMA. However, the Ombudsman may be able to consider a 
complaint about the reasonableness of the fee under the Ombudsmen Act 1975.35 See case 
376161. 

Further guidance 

For more information about processing official information requests, see our guides The OIA 
for Ministers and agencies and The LGOIMA for local government agencies. 

Our website contains searchable case notes, opinions and other material, relating to past cases 
considered by the Ombudsmen: www.ombudsman.parliament.nz.   

You can also contact our staff with any queries about charging, or for advice and guidance on 
developing an internal charging policy, by email info@ombudsman.parliament.nz or freephone 
0800 802 602. Do so as early as possible to ensure we can answer your queries without 
delaying the response to a request for official information. 

 

34  See s 2 OIA and LGOIMA. 

35  Provided the agency is subject to that Act. 

36

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/oia-ministers-and-agencies-guide-processing-official-information-requests
https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/lgoima-local-government-agencies-guide-processing-requests-and-conducting-meetings
http://www.ombudsman.parliament.nz/
mailto:info@ombudsman.parliament.nz


Appendix 1. Step-by-step work sheet for charging 

1. Scope the request 

 

 What is the requester asking for?  

 What information is held and where? 

 Engage with the requester as early as possible about any 
ambiguities or scope for refinement of the request. 

2. Decide on release  Are you going to release some or all of the information? 

 Charging is only permissible if information is being released 
in response to the request, so you may need to read and 
review the information first in order to decide to what extent 

it can be made available (see Charge means release). 

3. Consider whether it 
is reasonable to 
charge 

Relevant part of guide: 

When is it reasonable to 
charge? 

 Is it reasonable to recover some of the costs involved in 

releasing the information?  

 Relevant questions include:  

- Will it require considerable labour and materials to 
release the information? 

- Will it have a significant impact on the agency’s ability to 
carry out its other operations? 

- Has the requester previously made a large volume of 

time consuming requests? Note that some requesters 
(for example, MPs and members of the news media) may 
have good reasons for making frequent requests for 
official information, and they should not be penalised for 

this. 

4. Engage with the 
requester  

Relevant part of guide: 

Engaging with the 
requester 

 Engage with the requester to try and help them clarify the 

request, and change or refine it in a way that reduces or 
removes the need to charge.  

 Our Talking points can assist with this. 

5. Consider other 
options for reducing 
or removing the 
need to charge 

Relevant part of guide: 

 Are there other ways to meet the request that would reduce 
or remove the need to charge? For example: 

- providing readily retrievable information; 

- refining the time period covered by the request; 

- refining the types of document covered by the request; 

37



Options for reducing or 
removing the need to 
charge 

- providing a list of documents potentially in scope, so that 
the requester can refine the request; 

- limiting search terms by agreement with the requester; 

- providing the information in electronic form; 

- providing the information in an alternative form (eg, 
inspection or oral briefing); or 

- providing the information subject to conditions. 

6. Calculate the charge 

Relevant part of guide: 

Calculating the charge 

 How much information is at issue? 

 How long will it take to complete the activities that can be 

charged for?  

 Calculate the charge in accordance with the rates specified in 
the Charging Guidelines (see Formula for charging). 

 Our sample estimate of costs can help with this process. 

7. Consider whether 
the charge should be 
remitted in full or in 
part 

Relevant part of guide: 

Remission of charges 

 Should the charge be remitted in full or part because of the 
public interest in release?  

 Should the charge should be remitted in full or part because 
it would cause hardship to the requester? 

8. Communicate the 
decision to release 
subject to a charge 

Relevant part of guide: 

Communicating the 
decision to charge 

 This must be done as soon as reasonably practicable and 
within 20 working days of receipt of the request (unless that 
timeframe is extended).  

 Our template charging letter can assist with this. 

 Ensure that someone is available to the requester to assist 
them to change or refine their request in order to reduce or 
remove the need to charge.  

9. Prepare the 

information  
 Once the requester has accepted the charge and met any 

part of it required to be paid in advance, prepare the 
information for release. 

10. Release the 
information  

 Release the information without undue delay, and within the 
time period indicated in your letter of decision. Keep the 
requester up-to-date if unforeseen circumstances delay the 
release.  

 

38



 

39



Appendix 2. Case studies 
These case studies are published under the authority of the Ombudsmen Rules 1989. They set 
out an Ombudsman’s view on the facts of a particular case. They should not be taken as 
establishing any legal precedent that would bind an Ombudsman in future. 

Index 

Case 
number 

Year Subject 

178413 2009 Animal usage statistics 

Cannot charge for decision making time 

172047 2005 Request by MP for information about 42 community grants 

Cannot charge for time required due to administrative inefficiencies or poor 

record-keeping—Public interest in MPs having access to official information 

to assist in the reasonable exercise of their democratic responsibilities 

warranted 10 per cent remission  

177195 2009 Seven years of board minutes 

Cannot charge for administrative costs associated with the way an agency 

chooses to process a request—no remission of charge  in the public interest / 

due to hardship 

307851 2012 Unreasonable photocopying charge 

$0.45 per page photocopying charge unreasonable  

176345  

368207 

2007 

2014 

Unreasonable staff rates 

Staff rates in excess of those in the Charging Guidelines unreasonable 

274689 2010 Internal decision making rules 

Full remission of labour component of the charge in the public interest 

W50332 2004 Information about international trade agreement 

Full remission of charge in the public interest 

400121 2017 Information about academic misconduct by international 
students 

No remission of charge in the public interest 

302392 2010 Correspondence regarding proposals to lower the drink-drive 
limit 

Example of how to calculate a reasonable charge—no remission of charge  in 

the public interest 

319893 2012 Information related to cycling fatalities 

40

http://legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/1989/0064/latest/DLM129834.html?src=qs


Case 
number 

Year Subject 

Provision of readily retrievable information—no remission of charge for 

supplying the remaining information in the public interest—some 

information was available pursuant to a charging regime set by statute and 

the OIA could not override this 

178468 2009 All information about Treaty claim over three year period 

No remission of charge in the public interest / due to hardship 

179387 2010 Information about self-reported convictions of teachers 

Charge reduced on review—decision to charge news media requester not 

unreasonable  

172531 2007 Information about a DOC Recommended Area for Protection   

Charging for commercially valuable information 

176924 2009 Information about the Southern Saltmarsh Mosquito 
Eradication Programme 

Unreasonable to increase charge that had  already been fixed and agreed by 

the requester 

304081 2012 Information about a hospice 

Unreasonable to refuse request after earlier deciding to supply information 

subject to a charge 

173607 2007 Information about Maori interests in the management of 
petroleum  

Charge avoided by allowing inspection subject to conditions 

177600 2008 Vehicle registration information available for purchase 

Request for information available for purchase could be refused on the basis 

that it was  publicly available under section 18(d) OIA 

376161 2015 Statistics that could be created for a fee 

OIA and Charging Guidelines did not apply to request for statistics that were 

not held but could be created for a fee—fee for the creation of statistics was 

calculated in accordance with the agency’s Sales and Pricing Policy and was 

not unreasonable  

 

41



Case 178413 (2009)—Animal usage statisics 

The then Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF) advised a charge of ‘at least $3,000’ 
for supplying animal usage statistics, and the requester complained to the Ombudsman. 
During the Ombudsman’s investigation it was revealed that the bulk of the charge was 
for time required to consult with third parties affected by the request. The Ombudsman 
formed the provisional opinion that this time—which related to the decision whether or 
not to release or withhold the information—could not be charged for. After considering 
the Ombudsman’s provisional opinion, MAF reduced the charge to $583. The 
Ombudsman concluded that this represented a reasonable charge for supplying the 
requested statistics. 

Back to index. 

Case 172047 (2005)—MP request for information about 42 community grants 

An MP made 42 OIA requests for information related to 42 separate grants made by 
the former Community Employment Group (CEG) of the then Department of Labour. 
The requested information included copies of contracts, evaluations, communications 
with the grantees, internal reports, and reports to the Minister. These repeated 
requests were aggregated for charging purposes, and the Department advised a 
charge of $15,197.50. The requester complained to the Ombudsman. 

The Ombudsman noted that some of the time required was to cope with a loss of 

institutional knowledge as a result of the disestablishment of the CEG. Even when the 
CEG was functioning, it was apparent that its administrative processes were less than 
robust, with an extremely old and unstable electronic database, which lacked a search 
function, and was incomplete and inconsistent with the corresponding paper files. 

In the Ombudsman’s view, it would not be reasonable to make the requester bear the 
cost related to these administrative inefficiencies: 

The requester should only have to meet costs that are comparable to those that would be 

reasonably charged by a properly-functioning administrative organisation where the 

processing of official information requests is a core output and funded accordingly.  

The Ombudsman still accepted, however, that it would take approximately 3.25 hours 

to retrieve and collate the relevant information in respect of each of the 42 separate 
grants, requiring a total processing time of 136.5 hours. The Ombudsman formed the 
opinion that the charge should be reduced to $10,298. 

The Ombudsman also considered whether the charge should be remitted in 
recognition of the public interest in MPs having access to official information to assist 
in the reasonable exercise of their democratic responsibilities. However, he was not 
persuaded that the public interest justified remission of the entire charge. He 

42



concluded the charge should be remitted by 10 per cent, resulting in a reasonable 
charge of $9268.20. 

Back to index. 

Case 177195 (2009)—Seven years of board minutes  

ACC charged $3,438 to supply 87 sets of board minutes dating from 2000–2007, and the 
requester complained to the Ombudsman.  

ACC explained that the charge comprised labour costs of $3,268 and photocopying costs 
of $170. This was based on an estimated processing time of 30 minutes per board minute 

for ‘deleting the protected information, collating the material into a reasonable form, 
drafting a schedule explaining the grounds for withholding the protected information, 
and photocopying the altered documents’. The Ombudsman found that some of these 
tasks were not activities that can be charged for, and that a revised estimate of 20 
minutes processing time per board minute would be more reasonable. He noted that the 
primary cost of processing would come from decision making, and that the Charging 
Guidelines are clear this cost cannot be passed on to the requester. He did not accept 
that it was necessary to ‘collate the material into a reasonable form’. Other than the 
making of minor deletions, no further work was required to release the board minutes in 
a ‘reasonable form’. He also did not accept it was necessary to create a schedule 
explaining the withholding grounds: ‘This may be a particular agency’s preference, but 
the cost of creating this should not be passed on to the requester’. The Ombudsman 

formed the provisional opinion, which was accepted by ACC, that the labour component 
of the charge should be reduced to $2128.  

The requester argued the entirety of this charge should be remitted in light of the public 
interest, and due to personal hardship.  

In terms of the public interest, the Ombudsman accepted that disclosure of the minutes 
would promote transparency and contribute to public understanding of the 
organisation’s activities. However, the request covered a long time period, and much of 
the information was by then historic. The Ombudsman was not persuaded that 
disclosure of the information would represent such a significant contribution to the 
public interest that ACC should absorb the entire, quite considerable, cost of providing it.  

In terms of hardship, the Ombudsman accepted the complainant’s evidence that meeting 

the charge would consume his annual disposable income. However, the Ombudsman did 
not regard lack of financial resources by itself as a sufficient reason to merit the waiving 
of an otherwise reasonable charge. The Ombudsman said he would also expect to be 
able to identify a general public interest consideration in favour of release and/or an 
aspect of special relevance to the requester. 

The Ombudsman did not accept that the charge of $2128 should be remitted due to the 
public interest or personal hardship to the requester.  

43



Back to index. 

Case 307851 (2012)—Unreasonable photocopying charge   

A council charged $0.45 per page for photocopying building information, and the 
requester complained to the Ombudsman. The council explained that the $0.45 per page 
charge reflected the additional cost to council of complying with the statutory 
requirement to keep building information for the life of the building (estimated to be 50 
years minimum), as well as the ongoing maintenance costs associated with electronic 
storage of the files. 

The Ombudsman was not persuaded there was any justification for exceeding the 

standard photocopying charge prescribed in the Charging Guidelines ($0.20 per page for 
photocopying in excess of 20 pages).  

The Ombudsman noted that section 13(3) of the LGOIMA talks about charges being set 
with regard to the cost of labour and materials involved in making the information 
available. While these are not the only matters to which regard may be had, 
establishment and maintenance costs for systems and storage facilities are not the kinds 
of costs contemplated by section 13(3). If that were the case, a cost for a service that is 
for the benefit of the entire community would be being passed on to an official 
information requester. The Ombudsman considered that a requester can be charged 
(within reason) for the extra costs generated by meeting a request, but that it is not 
reasonable to go beyond this.  

The per page charge was reduced to $0.20 in light of the Ombudsman’s view, and the 
revised charge was found by the Ombudsman to be reasonable.  

Back to index. 

Cases 176345 (2007) and 368207 (2014)—Unreasonable staff rates 

Cases 176345 and 368207 involved councils charging higher hourly rates than those 
specified in the Charging Guidelines.  The hourly rates were derived from their LGOIMA 
charging policies, adopted in the councils’ annual plans.  The rates varied depending on 
the seniority of the staff involved (in one case, the charge ranged between $45/hour and 
$125/hour, and in the other, the charge ranged between $75/hour and $121.83/hour). 

In both cases, the Ombudsmen compared the proposed staff rates with those in the 

Charging Guidelines, noting that the latter rates applied irrespective of the seniority of 
the staff members involved. The Ombudsmen also noted there was no suggestion in 
either case that staff with specialist expertise were required to process the request. The 
higher staff rates were found to be unreasonable, as was the decision to charge different 
rates depending on the seniority of the staff members involved.  

In case 176345, the Ombudsman suggested that the Council consider amending its 
current scale of charges for the supply of official information to bring them in to line with 
the Charging Guidelines. In case 368207, the Ombudsman noted that the official 

44



information legislation does not contemplate full cost recovery for providing information, 
and that adequate funding should be provided for in agency budgets in order to perform 
their statutory functions. 

Back to index. 

Case 274689 (2010)—Internal decision making rules 

The Customs Service (Customs) charged $2,037.80 to supply a copy of its policies on 
checking passengers and their baggage, and the requester complained to the 
Ombudsman. The Ombudsman noted that this type of information is covered by section 
22 of the OIA, which provides a right of access to the internal rules that agencies use to 

make decisions affecting people. He considered that release of policies and procedures 
about how searches are carried out, and the rights afforded to those whose person and 
baggage is searched, would be likely to enhance public awareness of Customs’ role at the 
border and help ensure that that role is carried out properly and that Customs is 
accountable for its actions. The Ombudsman found that the public interest in general 
availability of the information made Customs’ decision to charge one requester a 
substantial amount unreasonable. In the Ombudsman’s view, Customs was only justified 
in charging reasonable photocopying costs, which were calculated in accordance with the 
Charging Guidelines to be $18.20. The Ombudsman also encouraged Customs to make 
the information available to the public online. 

Back to index. 

Case W50332 (2004)—Information about international trade agreement 

The Minister for Trade Negotiations charged an academic requester $620 to supply 
information about the General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS). The requester 
complained to the Ombudsman. The Ombudsman recommended full remission of the 
charge in the public interest. He noted that the GATS was a matter of substantial public 
interest in terms of New Zealand’s economic concerns. He considered that public 
understanding of this major public issue was best served by maximising the availability of 
information so that source material may be analysed for public discussion by a variety of 
parties. Members of the public are entitled to take a contrary view to the government 
and the OIA envisages that individuals may access information in order to participate in 
debate in their own way. In this case, the complainant sought the information in order to 

undertake research which ultimately would be made publicly available for discussion and 
debate, and the Ombudsman was of the view that any charge would hinder such access. 
You can read the full case note here. 

Back to index. 

Case 400121—Information about academic misconduct by international students 

Victoria University supplied a requester with statistics on instances of academic 
misconduct, but imposed a charge of $1064 to provide a breakdown of whether those 

45

https://ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources/charge-provision-information-regarding-trade-negotiations


instances involved domestic or international students. The University advised that the 
domestic/international status of students was not recorded within its academic 
misconduct register and would need to be collated by cross-checking that register 
against its central student record system. It calculated that 14 hours of staff time would 
be required to complete this task, based on an estimated 1 minute for each of the 625 
instances of misconduct, plus three hours contingency time.  

The Ombudsman noted that the first hour of staff time had not been allowed free of 
charge, but in other respects the estimated staff time was reasonable, and the charge 
was calculated in accordance with the Charging Guidelines. He went on to consider 
whether the charge should be remitted in the public interest.  

He noted the University’s decision to charge might appear unsatisfactory when set 
against the decision of other universities to supply the same or similar information for 
free. This could have been because there was less information at issue or different 
systems for recording it, or because the university opted to bear the cost itself.  

However, the Ombudsman considered that the fact other universities had no reason to 
charge or opted not to do so did not automatically mean that the decision of the 
University in this case was therefore unreasonable. If the University’s academic 
misconduct register included the students’ domestic / international status, collating the 
information requested would have been less time-consuming. However, with no reason 
to conclude that the University should have been recording that information in its 
register, the Ombudsman did not consider that it could be criticised for not doing so.  

The Ombudsman found that there is a public interest in ensuring that instances of 
academic misconduct are identified, investigated and concluded appropriately, but that it 
is not necessary for those purposes to identify whether the students involved are 
domestic or international.  

The Ombudsman considered whether there is a public interest in the University itself 
knowing the domestic / international breakdown of students involved in academic 
misconduct, to determine whether its efforts to prevent misconduct are appropriately 
targeted. However, he accepted that the University had other mechanisms for 
addressing academic misconduct, and services that could potentially pick up on, and 
respond to, particular concerns or trends. 

The Ombudsman concluded that there was no countervailing public interest in making 

the information available, such that, in the circumstances of this case, it was 
unreasonable for the University to decide against reducing or cancelling the charge.  

You can read the full case note here.  

Case 302392 (2010)—Correspondence regarding proposals to lower the drink-
drive limit 

46

http://www.ombudsman.parliament.nz/resources-and-publications/documents/request-for-information-about-academic-misconduct-by-international-students


The Ministry of Transport charged $9,220 to supply all correspondence received by 
the Minister from July 2009–November 2010 regarding proposals to lower the drink-
drive limit and the Land Transport Amendment Bill. The requester complained to the 
Ombudsman. The charge was revised down to $3,262.20 during the Ombudsman’s 
investigation.  

The Ministry and the Ombudsman’s investigator together searched the Ministry’s 
database for correspondence received between July 2009 and November 2010 with 
the following search terms: 

 ‘blood alcohol concentration limit’; or 

 ‘lowering of the BAC’; or 

 ‘drink driving’; or 

 ‘BAC limit’; or 

 ‘Land Transport (Road Safety and Other Matters) Amendment Bill’. 

The search returned 1180 potentially relevant documents.  

The Ministry and the Ombudsman’s investigator then reviewed a sample of the 
documents, and agreed upon the following assumptions regarding the chargeable 
activities required to process the request:  

 Search database: 15 minutes; 

 Review document to confirm within scope: 5 hours (15 seconds per document); 

 Open and print each letter/email: 10 hours (30 seconds per document); 

 Prepare documents for photocopying: 20 hours (1 minute per document); and 

 Time spent photocopying: 5 hours (15 seconds per document). 

This came to an estimated maximum of 40.25 hours processing time, plus 
photocopying for 1416 pages. Applying the charging formula (40.25 – 1 x $76 + 1416 – 
20 x $0.20) resulted in a charge of $3,262.20. 

The Ombudsman also considered whether that charge should be remitted in the 
public interest. He had regard to the controversial nature of the decision not to lower 

the drink-drive limit, and the high public interest in the information that led to that 
decision, as well as the views of the general public. However, much of this information 
was already available through the select committee process for the Land Transport 
Amendment Bill. Public submissions on that Bill had also been published on the 
parliamentary website. The Ombudsman concluded there was not a public interest in 
release of the requested information sufficient to warrant remission of the revised 
charge.  

47



Back to index. 

Case 319893 (2012)—Information related to cycling fatalities 

A requester asked the Police for a range of documentation relating to cycling fatalities 
since 2007, as well as answers to specific questions. Police said the request would take a 
considerable amount of time, which would be charged for in accordance with the 
Charging Guidelines. The requester complained to the Ombudsman.  

The Ombudsman asked the Police whether there was any information relevant to the 
request that could be provided with less effort than the work needed to answer the 
request in full. In particular, the first part of the request, which was for ‘a list of all 

fatalities involving a bicycle since 2007, including police file numbers, dates and 
locations’, seemed a possible option. Police were able to compile and supply a report 
addressing some aspects of the request using the Crash Analysis System (CAS) database 
free of charge.  

The Ombudsman considered whether it was reasonable to charge for the remaining 
information at issue. He found that a reasonable estimate of the time required to 
compile that information was 94 hours, resulting in a charge calculated in accordance 
with the Charging Guidelines of $7,068.  

The Ombudsman then considered whether that charge should be remitted in the public 
interest. The requester contended that the information was needed to assist in the 
preparation of submissions for a Coroner’s inquiry into cycling fatalities, and that his 

overall aim was increased public health and safety. These aims clearly aligned with the 
public interest factors suggested in the Charging Guidelines as warranting remission. 

However, the Ombudsman considered that the public interest in release needed to be 
sufficiently compelling to justify spending this much staff time on one request without 
charging for it: 

The staff time involved (over 90 hours) is funded by the public purse, and to my mind it is 

reasonable to expect a tangible public benefit from the use of that level of resource.  

The Ombudsman did not consider this case met that threshold. The readily retrievable 
information already released by the Police would have adequately assisted in the 
preparation of submissions to the Coroner’s inquiry. The Coroner also had the power to 

request information direct from the Police if it was necessary for the purpose of the 
inquiry. The Ombudsman was not persuaded the charge should be remitted in the public 
interest. 

The Ombudsman also noted that the primary source of much of the requested 
information was traffic accident reports. These reports are available pursuant to a 
charging regime set by statute. Section 211 of the Land Transport Act 1998 provides that 
traffic accident reports are available on payment of the prescribed fee, and the Land 

48

http://legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1998/0110/latest/DLM435645.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_land+transport+act_resel_25_a&p=1
http://legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/1998/0448/latest/DLM269993.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_Land+Transport+(Assessment+centre+and+Accident+report+Fees)+Regulations+1998+_resel_25_a&p=1


Transport (Assessment Centre and Accident Report Fees) Regulations 1998 provide that 
the prescribed fee is $55. The OIA could not override this. 

Back to index.  

Case 178468 (2009)—All information about Treaty claim over three year period 

The Office of Treaty Settlements (OTS) charged $708 to meet a request for all 
correspondence, memoranda, faxes, emails, file notes, and notes of telephone calls 
relating to the Te Roroa claim over a three year period. The requester complained to the 
Ombudsman. The Ombudsman noted that the information at issue was found in 50 files, 
and concluded the charge imposed reflected a significant under-estimation of the time 

that would be required to meet the request.  

The Ombudsman accepted that the Te Roroa claim and its subsequent settlement raised 
matters of public interest. Disclosure of information relating to the settlement process 
would serve to increase the transparency of the process and promote accountability for 
the settlement that was reached. However, this did not mean that there was a public 
interest in making available, without charge, all correspondence, memoranda, faxes, 
emails, file notes and notes of telephone calls relating to the settlement over a three 
year period.  

The request was so broadly framed it would likely capture many minor and trivial 
documents. Disclosure of this type of information would be unlikely to contribute 
significantly to public understanding of the settlement process.  

The Ombudsman acknowledged the requester’s contention that meeting the charge 
would cause him hardship. A requester’s personal financial hardship is a matter that may 
be taken into account in assessing whether to impose a charge. However, lack of financial 
resources, by itself, does not provide sufficient reason to remit an otherwise reasonable 
charge. Some public interest considerations favouring the disclosure of the information 
should also be apparent. Although there were public interest considerations favouring 
the disclosure of information relating to the settlement process in this case, the breadth 
of the information potentially covered by the request went beyond the information 
needed to meet the public interest considerations involved. 

Back to index. 

Case 179387 (2010)—Information about self-reported convictions of teachers 

The Teachers’ Council charged $3,277.12 to supply a member of the news media with the 
following details of instances where teachers had self-reported convictions: 

 the gender of the teacher; 

 the date on which the Council received the report of conviction; 

 the registration status of the teacher at the time the report was received; 

49

http://legislation.govt.nz/regulation/public/1998/0448/latest/DLM269993.html?search=ts_act%40bill%40regulation%40deemedreg_Land+Transport+(Assessment+centre+and+Accident+report+Fees)+Regulations+1998+_resel_25_a&p=1


 the current registration status of the teacher;  

 the details of the conviction(s) and sentence;  

 a copy of the information provided by the teacher; and  

 a copy of the summary of facts and sentencing notes. 

The requester complained to the Ombudsman. The Ombudsman accepted the request 
would take approximately 11 hours processing time. With the first hour free, this 
amounted to a charge of $760. This was based on an estimated 20 minutes per file to 
locate, extract and collate the requested information from 29 relevant files. The 
Ombudsman then considered whether the $760 charge ought to be remitted in the 

public interest.   

The Ombudsman acknowledged the public interest in transparency and accountability of 
Teachers’ Council processes. He also acknowledged that ‘the media serves the function of 
informing the public on matters of public interest’. However, ‘this does not mean that all 
its sources must be available at no charge’. 

The Ombudsman accepted that the staff time required to process this request would 
have a significant impact on the conduct of the Teachers’ Council’s business, and that it 
would have to engage additional staff in order to complete the work involved. He was 
not persuaded that the public interest in release was such that remission of the charge 
was warranted. 

Back to index. 

Case 172531 (2007)—Information about a DOC Recommended Area for Protection   

The Royal Forest and Bird Protection Society asked Solid Energy for all substantive 
information between 1998 and 2005 regarding a Department of Conservation 
Recommended Area for Protection. Solid Energy advised a charge of $9,930.31, and the 
Society complained to the Ombudsman.  

Solid Energy sought to recover the actual cost of supplying the information, including 
costs charged by its consultants, on the basis that it was commercially valuable. The 
Ombudsman commented: 

Information can be seen to be commercially valuable if it can be traded in some way, or if  

its release at less than production cost would confer a commercial advantage on a 

commercial competitor who would be saved the cost of producing, or otherwise 

acquiring, the information for itself. There has been no suggestion that either of those 

situations applies to the information in issue. Mere release of the information does not 

diminish its value to [Solid Energy] since it still has the information and can continue to 

derive whatever benefit it provided. 

The Ombudsman reviewed the modest amount of material at issue (15 documents of 
substance and approximately 125 pages of other material). It included experts’ reports, 
submissions regarding the boundaries of the proposed Recommended Area for 

50



Protection, and deeds of agreement between Solid Energy and the Department of 
Conservation relating to access to the relevant areas. He stated: 

The legal documents may evidence rights that may, perhaps, be tradable, but release of 

that information does not affect such tradability, if any. There is a submission, dated 

1998, which may have value as a precedent, but that value is not diminished by its 

release. The remaining information (other than the correspondence) contains the opinions 

of various experts on [Solid Energy’s] proposed mining operations, and the land, and its 

fauna and flora, likely to be affected by them. As [Solid Energy] is the only entity 

permitted to carry on such operations at that location it is hard to see any realisable 

commercial value in that information. 

The Ombudsman was not satisfied that any information of commercial value was to be 

released. Consequently there was no justification for charging on such a basis. He formed 
the opinion that $2000 reflected a reasonable charge in respect of the staff time 
involved. 

Back to index. 

Case 176924 (2009)— Information about the Southern Saltmarsh Mosquito 
Eradication Programme 

The then Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry charged a requester $9,044 to supply 
information about the Southern Saltmarsh Mosquito Eradication Programme. The charge 
was upheld on complaint to the Ombudsman, and the requester paid the charge. After 
processing a third of the request, the Ministry advised the requester that the charge had 

been exhausted, and sought a further $8,000 to complete the request. When the 
requester declined to pay the additional amount, the Ministry refused the request on the 
basis that it would require substantial collation or research to make the information 
available (section 18(f) of the OIA). The requester complained to the Ombudsman again. 

The Ombudsman formed the opinion that it was not open to the Ministry to refuse the 
request or increase the charge. The request could not be refused under section 18(f) of 
the OIA because the information had already been collated. In relation to the increased 
charge, the Ombudsman stated: 

In my view, if an organisation sets a definite figure for fulfilling a request at the time of 

making its decision, then I do not consider it is open to the agency to charge more than 

the set figure. However if an organisation ‘fixes’ a charge by reference to an estimate, 

and the agency clearly signals that this figure may increase, then an Ombudsman on 

review is likely to consider that an increase that is in line with the signalled estimate is 

reasonable.  

In this case, the Ombudsman was not persuaded that simply referring to the charge as an 
‘estimate’ was sufficient to forewarn the requester that the charge could increase, 
particularly by such a large amount. While the Ministry had made a genuine attempt to 

51



assess the likely charge, its scoping exercise prior to making a decision on the request 
was inadequate.   

Even in situations where a requester has been forewarned of the possibility that the 
charge may increase, a significant factor for an Ombudsman reviewing the 
reasonableness of a charge will be whether the increased charge is substantially different 
from the estimate given. In this case, the Ministry sought to increase the charge by 
$8,000, an increase of 82 per cent.  

The original estimate given in this case was not an open one – it was intended to convey 
to the requester the maximum that he would be expected to pay. The Ombudsman did 
not consider it reasonable in this case for the charge to exceed the original estimate.  

Back to index. 

Case 304081 (2012)—Information about a hospice  

A District Health Board (DHB) decided to charge for supplying information about a 
hospice. The requester accepted the charge and paid the deposit. The requester made a 
second request for information. The DHB then withdrew the charge, refunded the 
deposit, and refused the first request on the grounds that it was vexatious (section 18(h) 
of the OIA), and it would require substantial collation or research to make the 
information available (section 18(f) of the OIA). The requester complained to the 
Ombudsman about the refusal of his first request. 

The Ombudsman formed the provisional opinion that the DHB had made a decision to 

release the information to the requester, provided that he was prepared to pay the 
charge. Consequently, when the requester agreed to the charge, and paid the required 
deposit, he entered into an agreement with the DHB for provision of the information. In 
these circumstances, the Ombudsman could not see how it was reasonable for the DHB 
to subsequently withdraw its offer to release the information, and instead inform the 
requester that his request was refused. The requester was entitled to rely on the DHB’s 
decision to release the information on payment of a charge. After considering the 
Ombudsman’s provisional opinion, the DHB agreed to release the information for the 
original charge, and the Ombudsman discontinued his investigation on the basis that the 
complaint was resolved. 

Back to index. 

Case 173607 (2007)—Information about Maori interests in the management of 
petroleum 

The lawyers for an iwi sought documents relating to Maori interests under section 4 of 
the Crown Minerals Act 1991 in the Crown’s management of petroleum. The Ministry of 
Economic Development advised that it would require considerable labour and materials 
to review the 18 files at issue and imposed a charge of $380. The lawyers complained to 
the Ombudsman. 

52



During the Ombudsman’s investigation the Ministry agreed to make the files available to 
the lawyers by way of inspection, so they could identify the specific information they 
wished to obtain copies of. The opportunity for inspection was made subject to the 
following conditions:  

 That no material was removed from any file. 

 That —to the greatest extent possible—the lawyers focused on documents that were 
relevant to the request. 

 That information obtained as a result of the inspection was not used for any purpose. 

 That information obtained as a result of the inspection was not communicated to any 

other person, or published in any way.  

Once the lawyers had identified the specific information they wished to obtain copies of, 
the Ministry would then make a separate decision as to whether that information was 
able to be disclosed without conditions. This removed the Ministry’s need to charge for 
staff time spent researching the files. The Ministry retained the right to charge for 
photocopying, including staff time spent photocopying, depending on the volume of 
material the lawyers subsequently requested.  The Ombudsman discontinued his 
investigation on the basis that this resolved the complaint. 

Back to index. 

Case 177600 (2008)—Vehicle registration information available for purchase  

The New Zealand Transport Agency charged a requester for providing information about 
vehicle registrations. The information was available for purchase on the internet for a 
monthly fee of $56.25. The requester complained to the Ombudsman.  

The Ombudsman declined to investigate a complaint about the charge because the 

request could have been refused under section 18(d) of the OIA. That section enables a 
request to be refused if the information is publicly available. The Ombudsman said: 

If [an agency] properly refuses a request under [section 18(d)], the charging 
provisions in the [OIA] do not apply. A situation where [an agency] can clearly 
rely on section 18(d) is where it publishes the information and advertises this 
as available for purchase at a set price by any person.  

The Ombudsman noted the following excerpt from the Law Commission’s 1997 review of 
the OIA:36  

In some cases the ability to recover costs will arise through the commercial 
production and sale of the information (or the prospect of it) completely 

36  Note 17 at 56. 

53



outside the ambit of the Act. In that event the request may be refused: s 
18(d). 

He also noted this excerpt from Freedom of Information in New Zealand:37 

To what extent is material ‘publicly available’ if a Department or organisation 
charges for it? Clearly, books, maps, and other documents do not lose their 
availability simply because they are sold. Clearly too, the price at which they 
are sold may exceed the charges normally payable for retrieval and copying 
under Part II of the Act but by how much?  An excessive price could make the 
material ‘unavailable’ for the purpose of section 18(d). Departments should 
not be able to resist claims for access to a single document by pointing to its 

publication in a tome costing hundreds of dollars… 

The Ombudsman agreed with this approach. He commented that it might be 
unreasonable to rely on section 18(d) where a price is patently excessive, but in this case 
the price reflected the actual cost of producing the information.  

Back to index. 

Case 376161 (2015)—Statistics that could be created for a fee 

A requester asked Statistics NZ for the numbers of people living on an hourly rate of 
$13.75, $15 and $16, and the total number of people earning less than $18 per hour. 
Statistics NZ treated this as a customised data request and calculated a fee of $172.50 for 
supply of the information, in accordance with its Sales and Pricing Policy. The requester 

complained to the Ombudsman under the OIA. 

The first issue for the Chief Ombudsman was whether this was an OIA charging 
complaint, or one that had to be considered under the Ombudsmen Act. The Chief 
Ombudsman asked Statistics NZ whether it held the data at issue or would need to 
create it. 

Statistics NZ explained that the data were sourced from the New Zealand Income Survey 
(NZIS). However, NZIS earning statistics are produced by average and median only, not by 
numbers of people earning at set levels. That information would need to be individually 
produced by an analyst with a high degree of skill and knowledge of the NZIS ‘unit 
record’, or raw data.  

By describing in detail the steps that would be required to produce the information 
(including data programming and analysis), Statistics NZ was able to satisfy the Chief 
Ombudsman that this was a case of creation rather than collation of the information, and 
so the information was not ‘held’ and not available for request under the OIA.  

37  Eagles, I, Taggart, M, and Liddell, G. Freedom of Information in New Zealand. Oxford; Oxford University Press, 

1992 at 244. 

54



As the OIA did not apply, the Ombudsman considered whether the charge was 
reasonable in terms of the Ombudsmen Act. The Chief Ombudsman determined that the 
charge was calculated in accordance with Statistics NZ’s Sales and Pricing Policy, and that 
it was not unreasonable in the circumstances of this case to recover the full cost of 
producing the data.  

The Chief Ombudsman also asked Statistics NZ whether there was any readily retrievable 
information that could be supplied to the requester free of charge. Statistics NZ was able 
to point the requester to published statistics about personal income distribution broken 
down by weekly personal income. It was also willing to provide information compiled in 
response to an earlier customised data request for the number of people who were 
earning the minimum adult wage. 

Back to index. 

 

55



Appendix 3. Template charging letter 
[Name and address of requester] 

Dear [name] 

Official information request for [brief detail of the subject matter of the request] 

I refer to your official information request dated [date] for [quote or set out detail of request]. 

[Use if granting the request in full and charging] 

We have decided to grant your request. However, given the amount of resource required to 
process your request, we have decided to charge for making the requested information 

available.  

We estimate that the maximum charge will be [amount]. [A discount of [1–100] percent has 
been applied in recognition of the public interest and/or potential hardship]. Any unused 
component of the maximum charge will be refunded to you. For details of how this charge has 
been calculated refer to the enclosed estimate of costs [see sample estimate of costs].  

Before we proceed further with your request, please confirm your agreement to the charge 
[and pay the full amount / [amount] as a deposit, with the balance to be paid on release of the 
information]. [Specify how payment should be made]. We will send you the information within 
[time period] of your payment.  

[Use if granting the request in part and charging] 

We have decided to grant your request in part, namely information which relates to [describe 
information to be released in sufficient detail to enable requester to decide whether to pay the 
charge]. We have also decided to refuse your request for information which relates to 
[describe information withheld] under section [detail relevant section(s)] of the [OIA/LGOIMA], 
as release would [describe relevant harm].  

Given the amount of resource required to process your request, we have decided to charge for 
making part of the requested information available. We estimate that the maximum charge 
will be [amount]. [A discount of [1–100] percent has been applied in recognition of the public 
interest and/or potential hardship]. Any unused component of this charge will be refunded to 
you. For details of how this charge has been calculated refer to the enclosed estimate of costs 
[see sample estimate of costs].  

Before we proceed further with your request, please confirm your agreement to the charge 
[and pay the full amount / [amount] as a deposit, with the balance to be paid on release of the 
information]. [Specify how payment should be made]. We will send you the information within 
[time period] of your payment.  

56



[Use in all cases] 

You have the right to seek an investigation and review by the Ombudsman of this decision. 
Information about how to make a complaint is available at www.ombudsman.parliament.nz or 
freephone 0800 802 602. 

If you wish to discuss this decision with us, please feel free to contact [details of contact 
person]. [Contact person] will be able to assist you should you wish to change or refine your 
request in order to reduce or remove the need to charge.  

Yours sincerely 

[Name] 

57

http://www.ombudsman.parliament.nz/


Appendix 4. Sample estimate of costs 

Locations searched   

Search terms used   

Date range DD/MM/YY–DD/MM/YY 

Estimated no. of 
documents at issue/to 
be searched through 

 

Chargeable activities 
required  

 Search and retrieval  

 Collation 

 Research (reading and reviewing to identify the information) 

 Editing (excising or redacting information to be withheld) 

 Scanning / copying 

 Reasonably required peer review to ensure that these tasks have 

been carried our correctly 

Estimated minutes per 
document to complete 
chargeable activities 

 

Estimated total time to 
complete chargeable 
activities 

 

Estimated no. of pages 
to be photocopied 

 

 

 Quantity Price Totals 

Labour [A] hours $38/half hour, with 
the first hour free 

$[A - 1 x $76] 

Photocopying (if 

applicable) 

[B] pages $0.20/page, with the 

first 20 pages free 

$[B - 20 x $0.20]  

Other (specify)  $ $ 

Discount applied due 
to public interest / 
hardship (if 
applicable) 

[1–100] % - [amount of 
discount] 

Total cost  

58



 

59



Appendix 3 – Record of fee payments 
exemplar 

  

60



Request 
Number 

Name Email Additional hours  Total hours 
spend on request 

Details for invoice Total 
Charges 

Notes 

123 Joe Bloggs joebloggs@gmail.com 1.5 hours on reviewing 

and redacting 10 

documents 

$ LGOIMA professional 

services fee – hourly 

rate. First hour no charge 

$38 Total documents 

released 100. 

 

61



 

FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

22 JUNE 2022 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM C1 

 

FINANCE REPORT 
  

Purpose of Report 

To present the Finance Report for May 2022. 

Recommendations 

Officers recommend that the Committee: 

1. Receive the Finance Report 

1. Executive Summary 

Officers present the following Reports for review by the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee: 

• Financial Report for the eleven months from 1st July 2021 to 31 May 2022 

• Treasury Report 

• Audit Management Report 

2. Financial Report 

2.1 Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to provide Council with a commentary on: 

• Year to date budget vs actual financial results. 

• Commentary on material variances. 

• Full year risks (if any) for each significant activity. 

  

62



2.1.1. Overall Performance (Operating Surplus/Deficit) 

 

 
     

Operating Surplus 

Actual Budget Variance 

3,305,818 2,220,913 1,084,905 

149% 

 
 

 
Operating Income  Operating Expenditure 

Actual Budget Variance  Actual Budget Variance 

28,465,699 24,437,895 4,027,804      25,159,881      22,216,982  (2,942,899) 

116%  113% 

 
 
Operating surplus for the eleven months to 31st May 2022 is $3,306K against a forecast 

surplus of $2,221K.   

 

Adjusting this surplus for one-off unbudgeted items ($3,515k of income, and $3,128k 

of expense) the surplus is $2,919k, which is $698k favourable compared to budget. 

 

Adjusted Operating Surplus 

Actual Budget Variance 

2,918,993 2,220,913 698,080 

131% 

 

 

Adjusted Operating Income  Adjusted Operating Expenditure 

Actual Budget Variance  Actual Budget Variance 

24,951,046 24,437,895 513,151      22,032,053      22,216,982  184,929 

102%  99% 

 

  

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22

Operating Surplus

Series1 Series2 Series3

63



2.1.2. Operating Income 

Operating income is favourable by $4.028m.     
 
This includes one-off unbudgeted income from stimulus funding for the Three Water 

Reform programme as well as Mayor’s Taskforce for Jobs, Provincial Growth Fund, and 

NZLPP (Libraries). Removing these items adjusts the operating income to $698k 

favourable.   

 
Increased income is largely due to: 

• building consenting fee income ($261k higher than forecast) 

• Waka Kotahi operating subsidies ($193k higher than forecast) as the 
programme has now caught up with the budget 

• resource consenting fee income ($60k higher than forecast) 

• rental income ($58k higher than forecast) due to renegotiation of leases, and 
partly phasing of invoicing.   

 

2.1.3. Operating Expenditure  

Operating expenditure is unfavourable by $2.9m. 
  
This includes one-off unbudgeted income from stimulus funding for the Three Water 

Reform programme as well as Mayor’s Taskforce for Jobs, Provincial Growth Fund, and 

NZLPP (Libraries). Removing these items adjusts the operating expenditure to $185k 

favourable.   

 
Corporate Services – $152k unfavourable.  This is largely due to increasing costs to 
upgrade IT systems to support business continuity.  End of year forecast is estimated 
$150k unfavourable. 
 
 
Governance, Leadership & Advocacy - Favourable $331k largely due to a delay in 
recruiting for the Iwi representative ($161k), and underspends due to timing 
differences in Consultants ($37k) and Public Engagement ($55k) 
 
Public Protection – Unfavourable $55k.  We are seeing increased building consenting 
costs as a result of higher-than-expected building consenting numbers.  This is offset 
by increased consenting income.  All other areas tracking well to budget. 
 
Resource Management – Favourable to budget by $43K.  Forecast to be on budget by 
end of financial year. 
 
Economic, Cultural and Community Development – Unfavourable by $983k, however 
this is due to Provincial Growth costs of $1,039k for Tauherenikau Bridge and Marae 
development, offset by Provincial Growth payment of $760k.  
 
 
Amenities (including Libraries) - Overall, Amenities is unfavourable by $345k.   

64



• Libraries are unfavourable by $235k. However, this is due to $309k of costs 
offset by the NZLPP Grant income.   

• Other variances due to timing of budget phasing and contractor availability.   
 
Solid Waste – Unfavourable by $26k due to higher than predicted refuse volumes and 
increased Landfill Fees. 
 
Land Transport - Favourable by $294k.  This is due to phasing of the work programme. 
 
Water Supply – Unfavourable by $1,057k.  This is partly offset by the $948k of stimulus 
funding income however unforeseen breakages in the network is putting pressure on 
budgets.  Wellington Water are forecasting a 7% overspend for the full year but this 
may be impacted by further extreme weather events. 
 
Wastewater - Unfavourable by $671k.  This is partly offset by the $509k of stimulus 
funding income. however unforeseen breakages in the network is putting pressure on 
budgets.  Wellington Water are forecasting a 9% underspend for the full year. 
 
Stormwater - Unfavourable by $327k.  This is offset by $186k of stimulus funding 
income.  Stormwater depreciation has been affected by the inclusion of water race 
channel assets at the end of 2020-21 financial year, which had not been fully 
anticipated in the budget. Wellington Water are forecasting a 49% underspend for the 
full year. 
 

2.1.4. Other Non-Operating Income 

Non-operating income includes the Waka Kotahi capex subsidy, financial contributions 
received from developers, assets vested in council, and other capex related grants and 

subsidies received. 

Income to date is favourable by $880k.  This is due to $1,542k higher than anticipated 

developers’ contributions.  Waka Kotahi capex subsidies are $819k unfavourable to 
budget due to a delayed work programme however are expected to be on track by end 

of year. 

 

Note:  Budgets have been phased based on last year’s actual spend. Some variances 

are due to actual spending patterns being different between years. 

 

 

 

 

 

65



2.2 Operating Surplus (excluding one-off items)  

Adjusted Operating Surplus  
(showing effect of unbudgeted grant-funded projects) 

Operating Income 

Year-To-Date (May) Actuals Year-To-
Date (May) 

Budget 
Total 

One-Off 
Amounts 

Adjusted 
Total 

Rates 19,752,418   19,752,418 19,920,772 
Rates Penalty 123,548   123,548 120,000 
Interest 202,453   202,453 99,704 
Internal Interest Loans 19,128   19,128 - 
Fees & Licences 1,693,485   1,693,485 1,408,984 
User Levies 712,825   712,825 698,401 
Commissions 75,046   75,046 71,214 
Waka Kotahi Operating Subsidy 1,525,119   1,525,119 1,331,990 
Petrol Tax 77,028   77,028 77,605 
Grants, Donations & Subsidies 3,518,959 3,514,652 4,307 3,652 

Mayor's Taskforce 500,000 500,000 - - 
NZ Library Partnership 309,218 309,218 - - 
Provincial Growth 1,063,082 1,063,082 - - 
Three Water Stimulus 1,642,353 1,642,353 - - 
Other Grants, Donations & Subsidies 4,307   4,307 3,652 

Rental / Hire 680,831   680,831 623,128 
Miscellaneous Income 84,859   84,859 82,445 

Total 28,465,699 3,514,652 24,951,047 24,437,895 

Operating Expenditure 

Year-To-Date Actuals Year-To-
Date Budget 

Total 
One-Off 

Amounts 
Adjusted 

Total 
Corporate Services 2,727,792   2,727,792 2,575,706 
Professional Services 128,027   128,027 135,166 
Governance, Leadership & Advocacy 870,386   870,386 1,203,292 
Public Protection 1,747,755   1,747,755 1,692,528 
Resource Management 782,443   782,443 825,230 
Economic, Cultural & Community Development 1,602,070 1,238,890 363,180 619,366 

Mayor's Taskforce 199,552 199,552 - - 
Provincial Growth 1,039,337 1,039,337 - - 
Other Expense 363,180   363,180 506,954 

Amenities 3,725,174 246,586 3,478,588 3,380,575 
NZ Library Partnership 246,586 246,586 - - 
Other Expense 3,478,588   3,478,588 2,824,605 

Land Transport 4,812,432   4,812,432 5,106,711 
Water Supply 3,985,912 947,601 3,038,311 2,929,188 

Three Water Stimulus 947,601 947,601 - - 
Other Expense 3,038,311   3,038,311 2,409,172 

Solid Waste Management 1,599,328   1,599,328 1,573,303 
Sewerage 2,499,296 508,701 1,990,595 1,828,355 

Three Water Stimulus 508,701 508,701 - - 
Other Expense 1,990,595   1,990,595 1,503,745 

Stormwater Drainage 654,106 186,048 468,058 327,562 
Three Water Stimulus 186,048 186,048 - - 
Other Expense 468,058   468,058 269,278 

Rate Debtors Written Off 22,584   22,584 20,000 
Bad Debts 988   988   
Loss on Sale of Assets 1,588   1,588   

Total 25,159,881 3,127,826 22,032,055 22,216,982 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 3,305,818   2,918,991 2,220,913 

66



 

2.3 Capital Expenditure 

A summary of major project and infrastructure capital expenditure shows most activities are tracking below target.  There are increasing delays 
due to supply chain constraints and contractor availability.  
 

 

Key CAPEX Projects May 2022

Activity Mapping Project
Carried 

forward

2021/22

Budget

Total 

Available 

Budget

21/22

YTD

Actuals

Remaining
Full Year 

Forecast

Variance to 

Forecast

CS IT software Information management system -                    60,000           60,000        -                   60,000           -                      60,000            

CS Motor vehicles Motor vehicles -                    140,000         140,000      -                   140,000         140,000           -                      

CS Intangible Rebrand rollout -                    20,000           20,000        -                   20,000           -                      20,000            

GV Spatial Plan Spatial Plan -                    265,000         265,000      -                   265,000         150,000           115,000          

GV Combined District Plan Combined District Plan -                    200,000         200,000      -                   200,000         200,000           -                      

PP Liquifaction modelling Provide for liquefaction in planning/building rules 100,000        140,000         240,000      12,639          227,361         70,000             170,000          

PP Dog pound Dog pound decision/initiate 240,000        100,000         340,000      -                   340,000         100,000           240,000          

AM Cemeteries FTN Cemetery - build natural burial site -                    75,000           75,000        8,802            66,198           75,000             -                      

AM GTN Cemetery Additions 10,000          200,000         210,000      104,658        105,342         210,000           -                      

AM Community buildings Carkeek Observatory implementation of conservation plan -                    100,000         100,000      6,800            93,200           50,000             50,000            

AM Greytow n sports facility upgrade / extension -                    1,000,000      1,000,000   10,755          989,245         500,000           500,000          

AM Greytow n New  Open space Development -                    330,000         330,000      -                   330,000         165,000           165,000          

LT Land Transport Land Transport 447,000        3,405,585      3,852,585   2,194,148     1,658,437      3,852,585        -                      

LT New  footpath kerb & channel -                    400,000         400,000      400,000         400,000           -                      

LT Otauira reserve reseal carpark -                    60,000           60,000        60,000           60,000             -                      

447,000        3,865,585      4,312,585   2,194,148     2,118,437      4,312,585        -                      

WS Water Supply Water Supply 100,000        2,516,239      2,616,239   2,249,314     366,925         2,689,268        73,029-            

WW Waste Water Waste Water 729,717        589,600         1,319,317   569,921        749,396         626,690           692,627          

WW FSTN WWTP Upgrades and Consent -                    480,000         480,000      284,951        195,049         645,628           165,628-          

WW MTB Pinot Grove WW Upgrade -                    -                     -                  67,476          67,476-           117,300           117,300-          

WW GTN Papaw ai Rd WW Upgrade 180,000        2,148,235      2,328,235   2,094,887     233,348         1,879,793        448,442          

ST Stormwater Stormw ater -                    77,170           77,170        87,816          10,646-           41,321             35,849            

1,009,717     5,811,244      6,820,961   5,354,365     1,466,596      6,000,000        820,961          

67



 

3. Treasury 

3.1 Working Capital 

 
Working Capital, which expresses the ability of council to meet its short-term 
obligations, is strong with a ratio of 4.1 times (June 2021 2.7 times), and a total value 
of $13,456 (30 June 2021 $9,144k).   
 

3.2 Investments 

SWDC’s investment policy provides those financial investments should be spread 
around a number of financial institutions to reduce the risk of loss to Council.  

Clause 2 of the Investment policy covers the 50% rule: 

• The maximum amount to be invested with any one approved institution is 50% 
of Council’s total investments. 

• Occasional and short-term exceedances of the 50% rule are allowed, such 
exceedances are to be reported to the Audit and Risk Working Party [Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee]. 

 

• The Council have not placed any investments with Kiwibank since 2019 due to 
non-competitive rates. We propose to close our call account with Kiwibank in 
order to save on related administration costs. 

3.3 Public Debt 

Current debt $26,400k, at 2.49% average borrowing rate.    

Debt has increased by $2.0M between 1 July 2021 and 31 May 2022.  

 

  

68



 
 

4.  Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Financial Statements for the eleven months from 1st July 2021 to 31st 
May 2022 

 
 
 
 
Contact Officers:   Charly Clarke, Finance Manager 
  
Reviewed by:    Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer  

69



Appendix 1 – Financial Statements for 
the period ended 31st May 2022 

  

70



 

  

South Wairarapa District Council May

Statement of Financial Performance 2022

For the Period End 31 May 2022

Last Year
Actual Actual Budget Variance Budget %

Operating Income
15,483,618 Rates 19,752,418 19,920,772 (168,354) 19,920,770 99.2%

87,634 Rates Penalty 123,548 120,000 3,548 120,000 103.0%

192,842 Interest 202,453 99,704 102,749 109,205 185.4%

19,164 Internal Interest Loans 19,128 - 19,128 - 0.0%

1,583,450 Fees & Licences 1,693,485 1,408,984 284,501 1,528,000 110.8%

577,785 User Levies 712,825 698,401 14,424 764,950 93.2%

72,648 Commissions 75,046 71,214 3,832 78,000 96.2%

1,635,351 NZ Transport Agency Subsidy 1,525,119 1,331,990 193,129 1,458,921 104.5%

93,117 Petrol Tax 77,028 77,605 (577) 85,000 90.6%

1,143,945 Grants, Donations & Subsidies 3,518,959 3,652 3,515,307 3,999 87996.0%

616,123 Rental / Hire 680,831 623,128 57,703 682,500 99.8%

1,485,448 Miscellaneous Income 84,859 82,445 2,414 90,300 94.0%

22,991,123 28,465,699 24,437,895 4,027,804 24,841,645 114.6%

Operating Expenditure
2,648,402       Corporate Services 2,727,792       2,575,706       (152,086)         2,802,879           97.3%

483,137          Professional Services 128,027          135,166          7,139               147,835              86.6%

587,897          Governance, Leadership & Advocacy 870,386          1,203,292       332,906          1,316,348           66.1%

1,595,704       Public Protection 1,747,755       1,692,528       (55,227)           1,854,863           94.2%

707,449          Resource Management 782,443          825,230          42,787             903,725              86.6%

718,515          Economic, Cultural & Community Development 1,602,070       619,366          (982,704)         678,290              236.2%

3,173,645       Amenities 3,725,174       3,380,575       (344,599)         3,671,762           101.5%

5,177,143       Land Transport 4,812,432       5,106,711       294,279          5,593,154           86.0%

3,753,720       Water Supply 3,985,912       2,929,188       (1,056,724)      3,201,723           124.5%

1,467,444       Solid Waste Management 1,599,328       1,573,303       (26,025)           1,723,126           92.8%

2,522,941       Sewerage 2,499,296       1,828,355       (670,941)         1,998,482           125.1%

612,825          Stormwater Drainage 654,106          327,562          (326,544)         358,116              182.7%
19,728             Rate Debtors Written Off 22,584             20,000             (2,584)              20,000                112.9%

26,644             Bad Debts 988                  -                        (988)                 -                            0.0%

2,362               Loss on Sale of Assets 1,588               -                        (1,588)              -                            0.0%

23,497,557     25,159,881     22,216,982     (2,942,899)      24,270,303        103.7%

(506,434) Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 3,305,818 2,220,913 1,084,905 571,342 578.6%

Other Income
918,755 NZTA  CAPEX Subsidy 1,249,884 2,069,320 (819,436) 2,266,500 55.1%

185,127 Grants, Donations & Subsidies 134,198 - 134,198 - 0.0%

2,005,155 Contributions 2,725,922 1,184,161 1,541,761 1,297,000 210.2%

1,739 Assets Vesting in Council 23,343 - 23,343 - 0.0%

- Gain on Asset Revaluations - - - 417,327 0.0%

3,110,776 4,133,347 3,253,481 879,866 3,980,827 103.8%

Other Expenditure
0.0%

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                            0.0%

2,604,342 Total Surplus/(Deficit) 7,439,165 5,474,394 1,964,771 4,552,169 163.4%

Included in the operating expenditure is:

4,914,654       Depreciation 4,518,284       4,187,590       (330,694)         4,586,603           98.5%

534,339          Interest Expnese 589,054          560,461          (28,593)           613,870              96.0%

Current Year Full Year

71



 

 

South Wairarapa District Council May

Statement of Financial Position 2022
As at  31 May 2022

May 2022 June 2021 Movement
Assets

Current Assets

Cash and Bank 6,201,474                1,425,297               4,776,178                   

Short Term Deposits 8,705,326                9,615,548               (910,222)                     

Prepayments and Receivables 2,785,830                3,331,788               (545,958)                     

Inventories 43,147                      46,284                    (3,137)                         

17,735,777              14,418,916            3,316,861                   

Non-Current Assets

Intangible Assets 86,900                      73,250                    13,651                        
Investment Properties 14,322,000              14,322,000            -                                    

Investments 828,268                   725,168                  103,100                      
Property Plant and Equipment 512,801,337           507,812,469          4,988,868                   

528,038,506           522,932,887          5,105,619                   

Total Assets 545,774,283           537,351,803          8,422,480                   

Lialilities

Current Liabilities

Payables and Accruals 3,681,325                 4,795,242                1,113,917                   

Employee Entitlements 564,893                     467,661                   (97,231)                       
Provisions - Current Portion 34,220                       34,220                      -                                    

4,280,438                 5,297,123                1,016,686                   

Non-Current Liabilities

Public Debt - Non Current Portion 26,400,000               24,400,000              (2,000,000)                 

Provisions - Non Current Portion 381,267                     381,267                   -                                    

26,781,267               24,781,267              (2,000,000)                 

Equity

Public Equity 165,865,119             158,425,954           (7,439,165)                 

Special Separate and Trust Funds 28,057,825               28,057,825              -                                    

Asset Revaluation Reserve 320,789,389             320,789,389           -                                    

Other Reserves 245                             245                           -                                    

514,712,578             507,273,413           (7,439,165)                 

Total Liabilities & Equity 545,774,283             537,351,803           (8,422,480)                 

-                                -                               -                                    

72



  

SOUTH WAIRARAPA DISTRICT COUNCIL
Statement of cashflows
AS AT 31 MAY 2022

31 MAY 2022 31-May-2021 30-Jun-2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from:

Rates 20,658,845                 16,094,869               19,966,552               

Grants & Subsidies 6,703,278                   3,942,971                  5,906,751                 

Petrol Tax 44,418                         71,543                        66,451                       

Other Income 5,481,375                   6,791,687                  5,310,440                 

Interest on Investments 98,934                         279,542                     304,346                     

Total Operating Cash Inflow 32,986,851                 27,180,611               31,554,540               

Cash was applied to:

Payments to Suppliers & Employees 20,865,175                 19,224,823               25,344,398               

Interest Paid 630,230                       599,058                     465,971                     

Total Operating Cash Outflow 21,495,405                 19,823,881               25,810,369               

Net Cashflow from Operating Activities 11,491,446                 7,356,730                  5,744,171                 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from:

Sale of Property, Plant & Equipment -                                                                250                             

Term Investments, Shares & Advances 2,421,683                   2,669,000                  18,580,015               

Total Investing Cash Inflow 2,421,683                   2,669,000                  18,580,265               

Cash was applied to:

Purchase of Property, Plant & Equipment 9,400,574                   9,675,001                  10,901,361               

Term Investments, Shares & Advances 2,669,000                   2,669,000                  14,674,709               

Total Investing Cash Outflow 12,069,574                 12,344,001               25,576,069               

Net Cashflow from Investing Activities (9,647,889)                (9,674,999)              (6,995,803)              

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash was provided from:

Public Debt 2,000,000                   2,500,000                  8,200,000                 

Total Financing Cash Inflow 2,000,000                   2,500,000                  8,200,000                 

Cash was applied to:

Repayment of Public Debt -                                -                              5,700,000                 

Total Financing Cash Outflow -                                -                              5,700,000                 

Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 2,000,000                   2,500,000                  2,500,000                 

NET INCREASE / (DECREASE) IN CASH 3,843,557                   181,731                     1,248,369                 

30 MAY 2021 11,063,245                 13,812,085               2,203,316                 

31 MAY 2022 14,906,802$              13,993,816$             3,451,683$               

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash and Cash equivalents 14,906,802                 13,993,815               3,451,682                 

-                                -                              -                              

14,906,802$              13,993,815$             3,451,682$               

Variance -$                              0$                                1$                               

73



 

 

ORGANISATION

Weighted 

Average 

Interest Rate

Weighted 

Average Term
Total Invested

Percentage 

of Term 

Deposits

Authorised 

Threshold

SHORT TERM FUNDS & TERM INVESTMENTS

ASB Bank

Call account & short term deposits 0.50% 1 days $102,069.85

Term Deposits 90 days & over 3.00% 367 days $1,000,000.00

 $1,102,069.85 12% 50%

ANZ Bank

Call account & short term deposits 0.50% 1 days $86.60

Term Deposits 90 days & over 1.45% 365 days $3,000,000.00

$3,000,086.60 35% 50%

BNZ Bank

Call account & short term deposits 0.10% 1 days $5,200,401.83

Term Deposits 90 days & over 1.01% 124 days $4,037,042.02

 $9,237,443.85 47% 50%

Kiwibank

Call account & short term deposits 0.00% 0 days $0.00

Term Deposits 90 days & over 0.00% 0 days $0.00

$0.00 0% 50%

Wairarapa Building Scoiety

Call account & short term deposits 0.50% 1 days $1.32

Term Deposits 90 days & over 1.69% 365 days $566,111.76

$566,113.08 7% 10%

Westpac Bank

Call account & short term deposits 0.10% 1 days $14.61

Term Deposits 90 days & over 0.00% 0 days $0.00

$0.00 0% 50%

TOTAL 1.44% $13,905,713.38 100%

INVESTMENTS

BONDS

Weighted 

Average 

Interest Rate

Weighted 

Average Term
Total Invested

LGFA Borrower Bonds 2.53% 6 years $567,300.00
$567,300.00

FORESTRY

Plantation - Hurupi Stock $9,305.00

$9,305.00

SHARES           

Farmlands $1,159.00

NZ Local Government Insurance Company $81,434.30

Wellington Water Limited $50,000.00

$132,593.30

TOTAL INVESTMENTS $14,614,911.68

SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS AS AT 31 May 2022

74



FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

 22 JUNE 2022 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM C2 

 

POLICY AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 
  

Purpose of Report 

To present the Policy and Governance Report for June 2022. 

Recommendations 

Officers recommend that the Committee: 

1. Receive the Policy and Governance Report. 

1. Executive Summary 

Officers present the following updates for consideration by the Finance, Audit and Risk 
Committee: 

• Strategic Risk Register Review 

• Policy Review 

• Residents’ Perception Survey 

• Governance  

2. Strategic Risk Register Review 

The Strategic Risk Register continues to be reviewed and updated.  

 
April: Asses our current risks against the All of Government (AoG) Risk 

Maturity Assessment Framework and Maturity Level as recommended 
by the Office of the Auditor General as best practice (completed) 

May:  Set up the new strategic risk register template (completed) 
May-June: Work with each GM to assess inherent risks, mitigations, residual risks, 

accountability, and responsibility/accountability roles– based on agreed 
maturity level and new template (in progress) 

May-June Review the Risk Policy (in progress) 
June:  Workshop with FAR (delayed till August) 
August: Updated policy and strategic risk register presented to FAR for decision 
  (delayed till September) 
 

75



 

Note that climate change is being treated as a special risk and will be reported on 
separately.  

3. Policy Review 

The following table provides an overview of current policy projects underway. 

Policy/Project Description Status Comments 

Policy Development 
Framework  

Development of an overarching policy 
framework outlining the purpose of policy 
documents, policy structure that clarifies 
the different between governance and 
organisational policies and the process for 
review and sign-off.  

On hold Work has been on hold in May/June 
while the review of financial policies 
required by our last audit have been 
prioritised. Work is expected to resume 
in July. 

Smokefree- 
Environment Policy 

Development of a joint smokefree 
environments policy with Masterton and 
Carterton District Councils to enable a 
consistent approach across the Wairarapa.  

The review is to be progressed through the 
Wairarapa Policy Working Group (WPWG). 

On track The WPWG met in January to consider a 
draft policy and proposed engagement 
approach.  

A community survey has been developed 
to understand community attitudes 
towards smoking and vaping. The survey 
is on track to run in late June/July. 

Wairarapa Local 
Alcohol Policy 

Review of the Wairarapa Local Alcohol 
Policy 2018 (LAP) with Masterton and 
Carterton District Councils. 

The review is to be progressed through the 
Wairarapa Policy Working Group (WPWG). 

Project 
delays 

       

The initial project plan estimated 
recommendations would be made to the 
WPWG in May/June.  

Delays in the evidence gathering stage 
due to Covid-19 impacting availability of 
key project staff and stakeholders (NZ 
Police and Regional Public Health) means 
it is anticipated recommendations will 
now be provided to the WPWG in 
August.  

Recommendations to the three Council 
are expected to be made following the 
October 2022 elections. 

Financial Policies  Review of the Procuring Goods and Services 
(including sensitive expenditure) and Fraud 
policies which have been prioritised for 
review based on the last Audit. Note this 
also includes the development of a 
Delegations Policy and Register (including 
financial delegations) as part of our 
regulatory requirements. 

On track  Officer and elected member feedback is 
currently being incorporated. It is 
anticipated the policies will be presented 
to Council for adoption on 30 June. 

Remuneration – 
Elected Members 
and Conferences, 
Seminars and 
Training Policies 

A review of these policies with a view to 
combining them has been identified as the 
next priority ahead of the October 2022 
elections. 

On track The review is expected to commence in 
July/August to ensure the policy is fit for 
purpose for the 2022-25 triennium.  

Grants policy and 
process  

A new grants policy was adopted on 30 
June 2021. While the next review is not due 
until June 2024, improvement 
opportunities have been identified through 

On track  

76



Policy/Project Description Status Comments 

the application of the new policy. This 
includes an opportunity for better 
alignment between the different grant 
funds and greater clarity of the process for 
out of cycle funding applications.  

Risk Policy The Risk Policy was due for review in 
August 2021 and requires updating in 
conjunction with the strategic risk register. 

On track The policy can be expected to the 
Finance and Risk Committee at the 
September meeting. 

 

4. Residents’ Perception Survey 

Key Research, an independent research company conducting the survey on our behalf, 
have finalised the data collection component of the survey and provided a first draft of 
the results.  

Next steps are to finalise the draft report and present results to the Executive 
Leadership Team, councillors and staff. The report will be made publicly available once 
it is finalised.  

The results will be used to measure performance against the key performance 
indicators (KPI’s) reported in the Annual Report and to identify opportunities for 
improvement. 

5. Governance 

The Governance Team recently held a planning day and we spent time planning the 
induction of elected members for the beginning of the new triennium. We have also 
met with LGNZ and will collaborate with them to provide a comprehensive induction 
programme.  

Other actions implemented: 

• We have a dedicated ELT member to each committee and community board. 

• We have a draft report writing guide and template that we will trial over 
coming months with staff.  

• Open actions are closely tracked, and we have been working to address long 
standing actions to ensure the report appropriately reflects work conducted.  

 
 
Contact Officers:   Steph Frischknecht, Policy and Governance Advisor 
Reviewed by:    Amanda Bradley, Policy and Governance Advisor 

77



FINANCE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

22 JUNE 2022 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM C3 

 

ACTION ITEMS REPORT 
  

Purpose of Report 

To present the Committee with updates on actions and resolutions.  

Recommendations 

Officers recommend that the Committee: 

1. Receive the Finance Audit and Risk Action Items Report.  

1. Executive Summary 

Action items from recent meetings are presented to the Committee for information.  
The Chair may ask the Chief Financial Officer for comment and all members may ask 
the Chief Financial Officer for clarification and information through the Chair. 

If the action has been completed between meetings it will be shown as ‘actioned’ for 
one meeting and then will be remain in a master register but no longer reported on.  
Procedural resolutions are not reported on.   

2. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Action items to 22 June 2022 

 

 

Contact Officer: Amy Andersen, Committee Advisor  

Reviewed By: Harry Wilson, Chief Executive Officer 

78



Appendix 1 – Action Items to 22 June 
2022 

  

79



Number 
Raised 
Date 

Action 
Type 

Responsible 
Manager 

Assigned 
to 

Action or Task details Open Notes 

248 
11-Dec-

19
Action Stefan 

Find out the background to the Bonny 
Glen landfill risk and update FAR 
Committee members 

Assess the risk to Council of central 
government mandated increases to solid 
waste levies and the ability of Council to 
change processes to manage landfill 
contracts, expenditure and revenue 
alongside promotion of waste 
minimisation 

Open 

14/8/20 Bonnie Glen is owned by Waste Management 
and Environmental Services and charges are climbing 
outside of regular pricing for waste disposal due to a 
monopoly and limited future capacity at the site. 
We have a contract for service to use Bonnie Glen 
which ends shortly.  Alternative avenues to dispose of 
refuse will be researched prior to the contract ending. 
24/2/20:  Action updated by FAR 
01/10/21: We have a 20-year contract for service to 
use Bonnie Glen landfill.  There are no capacity issues. 
30/03/2022: members requested this be reopened 
and referred to A&S was because they wanted to 
review whether there is leeway for within the current 
contract in the context of a focus on waste 
minimisation and to understand the associated costs. 
That there was a suggestion by Harry for our new 
waste advisor to brief the A&S committee on this. 
Bryce assigned to follow up. 
06/05/2022: Waste Minimisation policy is subject to 
review at the moment.  A report will be given to A&S 
committee in due course, as staff need to be 
onboarded to fulfil this request. 
11/05/22: Action updated by FAR. 

250 
11-Dec-

19
Action Amanda Steph 

Review the Procurement and Contract 
Management Policy in March 2020 to 
ensure it covers all procurement and 
management activities 

Note this action also encompasses the 
review of the sensitive expenditure 

Open 

16/4/21: Will be considered as part of policy review 
programme following review of CDC's policy for 
sustainability matters  
23/11/21: Timeline to be reported to the next FAR 
meeting once the policy review programme is 
finalised 
22/3/22: Refer to the Policy and Governance Report 
for an update on the policy review work. 

80



Number 
Raised  
Date 

Action 
Type 

Responsible 
Manager 

Assigned 
to 

Action or Task details Open Notes 

section within this policy to ensure best 
practice guidance is followed. 

14/6/22: Policy drafted and provided to all councillors 
for review for consideration at Council meeting 
30/6/22 

483 6-Oct-21 Action Amanda Steph 

Include a list of all policies, their expiry 
dates, their proposed review dates and 
an officer comment column with the 
Policy and Governance Report 

Open 

23/11/21: To be reported to the next FAR meeting 
once the policy review programme is finalised. 
22/3/22: Refer to Policy & Governance Report for 
update. 
14/6/22: Refer to Policy & Governance Report for 
update. 

50 
16-Feb-

22 
Action Amanda   

Provide members a timeline for 
completion of the overhaul of the 
strategic risk register. 

Open 

30/03/2022: To be completed for next FAR meeting 
11/05/2022 
14/6/22: Refer to Policy & Governance Report for 
update.  

55 
16-Feb-

22 
Action Russell   

Investigate whether a plan change 
related to developer contributions for 
South Wairarapa could be brought 
forward ahead of the District Plan 
review. 

Open 
11/05/22: Members requested update. 
10/06/22: Already raised with District Plan review as a 
topic, and Boffa Miskell (consultant) is across this. 

 

81



FINANCE, AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

22 JUNE 2022 
  
 

AGENDA ITEM C4  

 

OFFICIAL INFORMATION REQUEST TOPIC TRENDS  
01 JANUARY 2022 – 31 MARCH 2022 
  

Purpose of Report 

To update the Financial Audit and Risk Committee of topic and request trends under the 
Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987.  

Recommendations 

Officers recommend that the Financial Audit and Risk Committee: 

1. Receive the Official Information Request Topic Trends Report.  

1. Executive Summary 

To provide an analysis of official information requests we have received between 01 
January 2022 and 31 March 2022. Specifically looking at the trends in topics and time 
taken to process these requests. This report identifies the functions within Council that 
attract official information requests and what these requests refer to. 

2. Background 

Between 01 January 2022 and 31 March 2022 South Wairarapa District Council received a 
total of 31 requests for information under the Local Government Official Information and 
Meetings Act 1987. This is a significant reduction from the first six months of the year 
where we received 135 requests over two quarters. At times we receive requests which 
present the need of being treated under the Privacy Act 2020. This occurs when the 
requested information affects an individual’s Privacy or information that is sensitive to the 
Organisation.  

During this period, we have required extensions for a total of 11 requests with 20 requests 
being sent within the 20-working day timeframe. Our normal process of extending a 
request is always through communication with our requestor. If required we extend the 
request by one week (5 working days) in the first instance, and if a further extension is 
required, we advise the requestor. We always provide an estimated date of release. At 
times we do not require use of the full extension period so therefore release the 
information as soon as reasonably practicable.    
 

82



The requests we have received between 01 January and 31 March 2022 have been across 
the organisation. Some departments being more targeted than others. These departments 
have included Finance, Governance and Policy, Roading, Animal Control/Bylaws, and Water 
Infrastructure. Occasionally some requests are sent to multiple councils for the purpose of 
nationwide data collection research.  A list of the requests that we have received during this 
period are tabled below, names of the requestors have been withheld under Section 7(2)(a) 
to protect the privacy of natural persons.  

This period also covers a period of hand over between information officers responsible for 
receiving, tracking, collating, and responding to LGOIMAs. 

 

 Request Topic Date 
Received  

Date due  Date sent  Timing 

1 Te Awaiti Bridge 07 January 
2022 

08 February 
2022 

28 January 
2022 

On Time 

2 CCTV Cameras 10 January 
2022 

08 February 
2022 

28 January 
2022 

On Time 

3 Office Furniture 18 January 
2022 

16 February 
2022 

18 February 
2022 

Extension 
Required 

4 Targeted Rate - Water 
Races 

21 January 
2022 

22 February 
2022 

22 February 
2022 

On Time 

5 Noise Complaints 28 January 
2022 

28 February 
2022 

25 February 
2022 

On Time 

6 Historic Heritage Sites 31 January 
2022 

1 March 2022 02 February 
2022 

On Time 

7 Fly Tipping 08 February 
2022 

08 March 
2022 

09 March 
2022 

Extension 
Required 

8 Vaccine Mandated 
Amenities - Rates 

10 February 
2022 

10 March 
2022 

18 March 
2022 

Extension 
Required  

9 Featherston Water Supply 
reports and decisions 

14 February 
2022 

14 March 
2022 

14 March 
2022 

On Time 

10 Underhill Road naming 17 February 
2022  

17 March 
2022 

18 February 
2022 

On Time 

11 Vaccine Mandated 
Amenities - Rates 

22 February 
2022 

22 March 
2022 

18 March 
2022 

On Time 

83



12 Working Group for the 
Future of Local 
Government 

23 February 
2022 

23 March 
2022 

07 April 2022 Extension 
Required 

13 Parking Restrictions - 
Martinborough Square 

25 February 
2022 

25 March 
2022 

25 March 
2022 

On Time  

14 State Highway 53- 
Waihenga Bridge 

25 February 
2022 

25 March 
2022 

05 April 2022 Extension 
Required  

15 Development 
Contributions  

02 March 
2022 

30 March 
2022 

1 April 2022 Extension 
Required 

16 Greytown Wheels Park 07 March 
2022 

01 April 2022 10 March 
2022 

On Time 

17 Underhill Road Quarry 
Consent 

07 March 
2022 

01 April 2022 09 March 
2022 

On Time 

18 Underhill Road Quarry 
Consent 

07 March 
2022 

01 April 2022 09 March 
2022 

On Time  

19 Underhill Road Quarry 
Consent 

07 March 
2022 

04 April 2022 07 March 
2022  

On Time 

20 Underhill Road Quarry 
Consent 

08 March 
2022 

04 April 2022 09 March 
2022 

On Time 

21 Financial Statements 10 March 
2022 

07 April 2022 11 March 
2022 

On Time 

22 Pedestrian Crossings and 
intersection compliance  

10 March 
2022 

07 April 2022 08 April 2022 Extension 
Required 

23 Dog Issues 21 March 
2022 

20 April 2022 28 April 2022  Extension 
Required 

24 Mayors Taskforce for job 
finances 

21 March 
2022 

 20 April 2022 06 April 2022 On Time 

25 Wastewater Report 23 March 
2022 

22 April 2022 27 April 2022 Extension 
Required 

26 Crime Scene Cleaners 23 March 
2022 

22 April 2022 01 April 2022 On Time 

27 Budget Information  24 March 
2022 

25 April 2022 13 April 2022 On Time 

28 Underhill Road Renaming  24 March 
2022 

26 April 2022 04 April 2022 On Time 

84



29 Rating Review 25 March 
2022 

27 April 2022 27 April 2022 On Time 

30 Vaccination Passes 28 March 
2022 

28 April 2022 20 May 2022 Extension 
Required 

31 SWDC Rates  29 March 
2022 

29 April 2022 12 May 2022 Extension 
Required 

 

2.1 Topic Trends 

Tabled below are the department (topic) trends which have occurred in the last five months. 

 

LGOIMA Department (Topic) Trends, 01 Jul – 31 Dec 2021 

Topic Number of Requests  

Rates (including water races rating) 3 

Financial 3 

Roading 5 

Governance 2 

Animal Control 1 

Policy (vaccine mandate related) 3 

Planning (Underhill Rd Quary Consent) 4 

Planning (development)  1 

Environmental Health 3 

Regulatory  2 

Wastewater 1 

Water supply  1 

Parks, Reserves and Heritage 2 

Total  31 

 

3. Conclusion 

This report has provided an overview of all requests that SWDC has received for the period 
01 January to 31 March 2021 and shows a decline in LGOIMAs compared with the first six 
months of the year and is much more in line with previous request numbers.  

 

 

Contact Officer:  Jessica O’Neil, Customer Services Administrator 

Reviewed By:  Amanda Bradley, Policy and Governance Manager   

 

85




